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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following sets forth selected financial and operating

information on historical basis for Duke Realty

Corporation for each of the years in the five-year period

ended December 31 2012 The terms we us and

our refer to Duke Realty Corporation and subsidiaries

the Company and those entities owned or controlled

by the Company The following information should be

read in conjunction with Managements Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

and Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

included in this annual report in thousands except per

share amounts

Results of Operations

Revenues

Rental and related revenue from continuing operations

General contractor and service fee revenue

Total Revenues from Continuing Operations

Income loss from continuing operations

Net income loss attributable to common sharebolders

Per Share Data

Basic income loss per common share

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Diluted income loss per common share

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Dividends paid per common share

Weighted average common shares outstanding

Weighted average common shares and potential

dilutive securities

Balance Sheet Data at December 31

Other Data

Funds from Operations attributable

to common shareholders

0.19

0.14

In addition to net income loss computed in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America GAP we assess and measure our overall operating results based upon

Funds From Operations FF0 which is an industry performance measure that management believes isa useful indicator of consolidated operating performance FF0 is used by industry analysts and investors as

supplemental operating performance measure of an equity real estate investment trust REIT like Duke Realty Corporation The National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts NAREIT created FF0

au non-GAAP oupplemental measure of REIT operating performance FF0 as defined by NAREIT represents GAAP net income loss encluding extraordinary items as defined under GAAP gains or losses from

sales of previously depreciated real estate assets impairment charges related to depreciable real estate assets plus certain non-cash items such as real estate asset depreciation and amortization and after similar

adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures The most comparable GAAP measure is net income loss attributable to common shareholders FF0 attributable tu common shareholders should

not be considered as substitute for net income loss attributable to common shareholders or any other measures derived in accordance with GAAP and may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures

of other companies FF0 is calculated in accordance with the definition that was adopted by the Board of Guvemors of NAREIT

Historical cost accounting for real estate assets in accordance with GAAP implicitly assumes that the value of real estate assets diminishes predictably over time Since real estate values instead have historically risen

or fallen with market conditions many industry analysts and investors have considered presentation of operating results for real estate companies that use historical cost accounting to be insufficient by themselves

Management believes that the use of FF0 attributable to common shareholders combined with net income which remains the primary measure of performance improves the understanding of operating results of

BElTs among the investing public and makes comparisons of REIT operating results more meaningful Management believes that the use of FF0 as performance measure enables investors and analysts to readily

identify the operating results of the long-term assets that form the core of BElTs activity and assist therein comparing these operating results between periods or between different companies

See reconciliation of FF0 to GAAP net income loss attributable to common shareholders under the caption Year in Reoiew under Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results

of Operations

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

834369 742883 669543 625410 583014

275071 521796 515361 449509 434624

1109440 1264679 1184904 1074919 1017638

87786 2807 39291 233425 89529

126145 31416 14108 333601 50408

Total Assets

Total Debt

Total Preferred Equity

Total Shareholders Equity

Total Common Shares Outstanding

0.53 0.27 0.18 1.48

0.05 0.38 0.11 0.19

0.53 0.27 018 1.48 0.19

0.05 0.38 0.11 0.19 0.14

0.68 0.68 0.68 0.76 1.93

267900 252694 238920 201206 146915

267900 259598 238920 201206 154553

7560101 7004437 7644276 7304279 7690883

4446170 3809589 4207079 3854032 4276990

625638 793910 904540 1016625 1016625

2591414 2714686 2945610 2925345 2844019

279423 252927 252195 224029 148420

265204 274616 297955 142597 369.698
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CAUTIONARY NOTICE REGARDING

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in or incorporated

by reference into this report including without

limitation those related to our future operations

constitute forward-looking statements within the

meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of

1933 as amended and Section 21E of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended The words

believe estimate expect anticipate intend

plan seek may and similar expressions or

statements regarding future periods are intended to

identify forward-looking statements

These forward-looking statements involve known

and unknown risks uncertainties and other

important factors that could cause our actual

results performance or achievements or industry

results to differ materially from any predictions

of future results performance or achievements

that we express or imply in this report or in the

information incorporated by reference into this

report Some of the risks uncertainties and other

important factors that may affect future results

include among others

Changes in general economic and business

conditions including the financial condition of

our tenants and the value of our real estate assets

Our continued qualification as real estate

investment trust REIT for U.S federal income

tax purposes

Heightened competition for tenants and potential

decreases in property occupancy

Potential changes in the financial markets and

interest rates

Volatility in our stock price and trading volume

Our continuing ability to raise funds on favorable

terms

Our ability to successfully identify acquire

develop and/or manage properties on terms that

are favorable to us

Potential increases in real estate construction

costs

Our ability to successfully dispose of properties on

terms that are favorable to us including without

limitation through one or more transactions

that are consistent with our previously disclosed

strategic plans

Our ability to retain our current credit ratings

Inherent risks in the real estate business

including but not limited to tenant defaults

potential liability relating to environmental

matters and liquidity of real estate investments

and

Other risks and uncertainties described

herein as well as those risks and uncertainties

discussed from time to time in our other

reports and other public filings with the

Securities and Exchange Commission SEC

Although we presently believe that the plans

expectations and results expressed in or suggested

by the forward-looking statements are reasonable

all forward-looking statements are inherently

subjective uncertain and subject to change as they

involve substantial risks and uncertainties beyond

our control New factors emerge from time to time

and it is not possible for us to predict the nature or

assess the potential impact of each new factor on

our business Given these uncertainties we caution

you not to place undue reliance on these forward-

looking statements We undertake no obligation

to update or revise any of our forward-looking

statements for events or circumstances that arise

after the statement is made except as otherwise

may be required by law

This list of risks and uncertainties however is only

summary of some of the most important factors

and is not intended to be exhaustive We have on

file with the SEC an Annual Report on Form 10-K

dated February 22 2013 with additional risk factor

information

DUKE REALTY CORPORATION Aru Report 2012



MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL

CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We are self-administered and self-managed REIT

that began operations in 1986 In 1993 in connection

with secondary offering of our common shares we

contributed all of our properties and related assets and

liabilities to Duke Realty Limited Partnership DRLP
through which we have subsequently conducted

substantially all of our operations Concurrent with

the formation of DRLP we obtained control of Duke

Associates full-service commercial real estate firm

operating in the Midwest whose operations began in

1972 As of December 31 2012 we

Owned or jointly controlled 774 industrial office

medical office and other properties of which

755 properties with approximately 141.2 million

square feet are in service and 19 properties with

more than 4.4 million square feet are under

development The 755 in-service properties

are comprised of 629 consolidated properties

with approximately 115.6 million square feet

and 126 jointly controlled properties with more

than 25.6 million square feet The 19 properties

under development consist of 17 consolidated

properties with approximately 3.6 million square

feet and two jointly controlled properties with

approximately 874000 square feet

Owned including through ownership interests in

unconsolidated joint ventures more than 4600

acres of land and controlled an additional 1600

acres through purchase options

key component of our overall strategy is to

increase our investment in quality industrial

properties in both existing and select new markets

expand our medical office portfolio nationally to

take advantage of demographic trends and reduce

our investment in suburban office properties and

other non-strategic assets

We have four reportable operating segments at

December 31 2012 the first three of which consist of

the ownership and rental of industrial ii office

and iii medical office real estate investments The

operations of our industrial office and medical

office properties along with our retail properties are

collectively referred to as Rental Operations Our retail

properties as well as any other properties not included

in our reportable segments do not by themselves meet

the quantitative thresholds for separate presentation

as reportable segment The fourth reportable

segment consists of various real estate services

such as property management asset management

maintenance leasing development general contractor

and construction management to third-party property

owners and joint ventures and is collectively referred

to as Service Operations Our reportable segments

offer different products or services and are managed

separately because each segment requires different

operating strategies and management expertise Our

Service Operations segment also includes our taxable

REIT subsidiary legal entity through which certain of

the segments operations are conducted

During 2012 one of the quantitative thresholds was

triggered which required our medical office property

operating segment to be presented as separate

reportable segment As such our medical office

properties are presented as separate reportable

segment for the year ended December 31 2012 as

well as for the comparative prior periods

Operational Strategy

Our operational focus is to drive profitability by

maximizing cash from operations as well as FF0

through maintaining and increasing property

occupancy and rental rates by effectively managing

our portfolio of existing properties ii selectively

developing new build-to-suit substantially pre-leased

and in limited circumstances speculative development

projects iii leveraging our construction expertise to act

as general contractor or construction manager on fee

basis and iv providing full line of real estate services

to our tenants and to third parties

Annil Report 2012 DUKE REALTY CORPORATION 12



Asset Strategy

Our asset strategy is to reposition our investment

concentration among product types and further

diversify our geographic presence Our strategic

objectives include increasing our investment in

quality industrial properties in both existing markets and

select new markets ii expanding our medical office

portfolio nationally to take advantage of demographic

trends iii increasing our asset investment in markets

we believe provide the best potential for future rental

growth and iv reducing our investment in suburban

office properties located primarily in the Midwest as well

as reducing our investment in other non-strategic assets

We are executing our asset strategy through disciplined

approach by identifying acquisition and development

opportunities while continually evaluating our portfolio

for disposition by regularly identifying assets that no

longer meet our long-term objectives

Capital Strategy

Our capital strategy is to maintain strong balance

sheet by actively managing the components of our

capital structure in coordination with the execution

of our overall operational and asset strategies We

are focused on maintaining investment grade ratings

from our credit rating agencies with the ultimate goal

of further improving the key metrics that formulate

our credit ratings

In support of our capital strategy we employ an asset

disposition program to sell non-strategic real estate

assets which generates proceeds that can be recycled

into new property investments that better fit our growth

objectives or can be used to reduce leverage and

otherwise manage our capital structure

We continue to focus on improving our balance sheet

by maintaining balanced and flexible capital structure

which includes extending and sequencing the

maturity dates of our outstanding debt obligations

ii borrowing primarily at fixed rates by targeting

variable rate component of total debt less than 20%

and iii issuing common equity as needed to maintain

appropriate leverage parameters or support significant

strategic acquisitions With our successes to date and

continued focus on maintaining strong balance sheet

we believe we are well-positioned for future growth

YEAR IN REVIEW

There was modest overall economic improvement

in certain key macroeconomic metrics such as the

national unemployment rate and the annual growth in

the gross domestic product however the uncertainty

around the November 2012 election unresolved debt

ceiling and fiscal cliff discussions as well as persistent

economic issues in Europe continued to weigh heavily

on the willingness and ability of businesses to make

long-term capital commitments during 2012 Those

macro-economic factors produced challenges for our

industry and specifically our business but nonetheless

we improved several of our key operating metrics such

as our in-service occupancy our total leasing activity

and our tenant retention rate

Net loss attributable to the common shareholders for

the year ended December 31 2012 was $126.1 million

or $0.48 per share diluted compared to net income

of $31.4 million or $0.11 per share diluted for the

year ended December 31 2011 The net loss position

in 2012 when compared to the net income generated

in 2011 was primarily the result of 79-building

suburban office portfolio sale the Blackstone Office

Disposition in late 2011 In addition to the significantly

higher gains on sale in 2011 the Blackstone Office

Disposition resulted in lower operating results during

2012 as we had significantly lower base of income-

generating assets through the first half of 2012 until

the proceeds from the Blackstone Office Disposition

were fully re-invested in late 2012 according to plan

FF0 attributable to common shareholders totaled

$265.2 million for the year ended December 31 2012

compared to $274.6 million for 2011 The reduction

in FF0 from 2011 to 2012 was primarily due to the

proceeds from the Blackstone Office Disposition not

being fully deployed into income-generating assets

until the second half of 2012
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In addition to net income loss computed in

accordance with GAAP we assess and measure our

overall operating results based upon FF0 which is

an industry performance measure that management

believes is useful indicator of consolidated operating

performance FF0 is used by industry analysts and

investors as supplemental operating performance

measure of REIT NAREIT created FF0 as non-GAAP

supplemental measure of REIT operating performance

FF0 as defined by NAREIT represents GAAP net

income loss excluding extraordinary items as defined

under GAAP gains or losses from sales of previously

depreciated real estate assets impairment charges

related to depreciable real estate assets plus certain

non-cash items such as real estate asset depreciation

and amortization and after similar adjustments for

unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures The

most comparable GAAP measure is net income loss

attributable to common shareholders FF0 attributable

to common shareholders should not be considered

as substitute for net income loss attributable to

common shareholders or any other measures derived in

accordance with GAAP and may not be comparable to

other similarly titled measures of other companies FF0

is calculated in accordance with the definition that was

adopted by the Board of Governors of NAREIT

Historical cost accounting for real estate assets in

accordance with GAAP implicitly assumes that the

value of real estate assets diminishes predictably over

time Since real estate values instead have historically

risen or fallen with market conditions many industry

analysts and investors have considered presentation

of operating results for real estate companies that

use historical cost accounting to be insufficient by

themselves Management believes that the use of

FF0 attributable to common shareholders combined

with net income which remains the primary measure

of performance improves the understanding of

operating results of REITs among the investing public

and makes comparisons of REIT operating results

more meaningful Management believes that the use of

FF0 as performance measure enables investors and

analysts to readily identify the operating results of the

long-term assets that form the core of REITs activity

and assist them in comparing these operating results

between periods or between different companies

The following table shows reconciliation of net

income loss attributable to common shareholders

to the calculation of FF0 attributable to common

shareholders for the years ended December 31 2012

2011 and 2010 respectively in thousands

Net income loss attributable to common shareholders

Adjustments

Depreciation and amortization

Company share of joint venture depreciation and amortization

Earnings from depreciable property saleswholly owned

Earnings from depreciable property salesshare of joint venture

Noncontrolling interest share of adjustments

Funds From Operations attributable to common shareholders

2012 2011 2010

126145 31416 14108

385679379419 360184

34702 33687 34674

13811 169431 72716

1907 91 2308

7054 6644 7771

265204 274616 297955

We continued to make significant progress during 2012

in executing our stated asset strategy of increasing our

investment in industrial and medical office properties and

reducing our investment in suburban office properties

Additionally we continued to improve our operational

metrics which is an indication of continued execution of

our operational strategy Highlights of our 2012 strategic

activities are as follows

During 2012 we acquired 27 medical office

properties and ten industrial properties with total

combined value of $779.7 million

We generated $138.1 million of total net cash

proceeds from the disposition of 28 wholly-

owned buildings and 210 acres of wholly-owned

undeveloped land

We had development starts of $485.2 million

within our consolidated properties which were

primarily comprised of industrial and medical office

properties These 2012 development starts were

86% pre-leased

Ann Report 2012 DUKE REALTY CORPORATION



We increased our level of development investment

during 2012 as compared to the last few years The

total estimated cost of our consolidated properties

under construction was $468.8 million at December

31 2012 with $225.2 million of such costs incurred

through that date The total estimated cost for

jointly controlled properties under construction

was $109.6 million at December 31 2012 with

$55.0 million of costs incurred through that date

The consolidated properties under construction

are 84% pre-leased while the jointly controlled

properties under construction are 31% pre-leased

The occupancy level for our in-service portfolio of

consolidated properties increased from 90.8% at

December 31 2011 to 92.7% at December 31 2012

The increase in occupancy was primarily driven by

leasing up vacant space as well as our acquisition

and disposition activities

We continued to have strong total leasing activity

for our consolidated properties with total leasing

activity of 24.2 million square feet in 2012 compared

to 19.7 million square feet in 2011

Total leasing activity for our consolidated

properties in 2012 included 13.6 million square feet

of renewals which represented an 83.7% retention

rate on square foot basis and resulted in 1.4%

increase in net effective rents

We executed number of significant transactions in

support of our capital strategy during 2012 and January

2013 in order to optimally sequence our unsecured

debt maturities manage our overall leverage profile

and support our acquisition and development activities

in alignment with our asset strategy Highlights of our

key financing activities are as follows

In January 2013 we completed public offering of

41.4 million common shares atan issue price of $14.25

per share resulting in gross proceeds of $590.0

million and after underwriting fees and estimated

offering costs net proceeds of approximately $571.9

million The net proceeds from this offering were

used to repay all of the outstanding borrowings

under our existing revolving credit facility which as

the result of recent acquisitions had an outstanding

balance of $285.0 million as of December 31 2012

The remaining proceeds will also be used to redeem

all of our outstanding 8.375% Series Cumulative

Redeemable Preferred Shares Series Shares

which are redeemable as of February 22 2013 and

for general corporate purposes

Throughout 2012 we issued 22.7 million shares

of common stock pursuant to our at the market

ATM equity program generating gross

proceeds of approximately $322.2 million and

after considering commissions and other costs

net proceeds of approximately $315.3 million

In October2012 we repaid $50.0 million of medium

term notes which had an effective interest rate of

5.45% at their scheduled maturity date

In September 2012 we issued $300.0 million of

unsecured notes that bear interest at 3.875%

have an effective rate of 3.925% and mature on

October 15 2022

In August 2012 we repaid $150.0 million of senior

unsecured notes which had an effective interest

rate of 6.01% at their scheduled maturity date

In June 2012 we issued $300.0 million of senior

unsecured notes that bear interest at 4.375%

have an effective rate of 4.466% and mature on

June 15 2022

In March 2012 we redeemed all of the outstanding

shares of our 6.950% Series Cumulative

Redeemable Preferred Shares Series Shares

at liquidation amount of $168.3 million

We assumed nine secured loans in conjunction

with our 2012 acquisitions These assumed loans

had total face value of $96.1 million total

fair value of $100.8 million and carry weighted

average stated interest rate of 5.56% We used

weighted average estimated market rate of 3.50%

in determining the fair value of these loans

Throughout 2012 we repaid five secured loans

at their respective maturity dates totaling $102.1

million These loans had weighted average

stated interest rate of 6.08%

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Our operating results depend primarily upon rental

income from our Rental Operations The following

discussion highlights the areas of Rental Operations

that we consider critical drivers of future revenues
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Occupancy Analysis As previously discussed our percent leased and average net effective rent information

ability to maintain high occupancy rates is principal

driver of maintaining and increasing rental revenue from

continuing operations The following table sets forth

Total

Square Feet

Percent of

Total Square Feet

regarding our in-service portfolio of consolidated rental

properties as of December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

in thousands except percentage data

Percent Leased

Average Annual

Net Effective Rent

Type 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

IndustrIal 94265 90383 81.6% 81.9% 94.3% 92.2% 3.88 3.90

Office 15610 16228 13.5% 14.7% 84.2% 83.5% 13.35 13.25

Medical Office 4968 2862 4.3% 2.6% 91.0% 89.1% 21.67 $20.60

Other 739 823 0.6% 0.8% 88.1% 89.3% 24.24 23.84

Total 115582 110296 100.0% 100.0% 92.7% 90.8% 5.91 5.73

Represents the percentage of total square feet leased based on executed leases and without regard to whether the leases have commenced

Represents average annual base rental payments per leased square toot on straight-line basis for the term of each lease from space leased to tenants at the end of the most recent reporting period This amount

eocludes additional amounts paid by tenants as reimbursement for operating expenses

The increase in occupancy at December 31 2012 had been previously leased is referred to as second

compared to December 31 2011 is primarily driven generation lease activity The total leasing activity

by increased leasing activity in 2012 compared for our consolidated rental properties expressed in

to 2011 We renewed 83.7% of our expiring square feet of leases signed during the period is as

leases during 2012 compared to 67.4% during follows for the years ended December 31 2012 and

2011 Acquisitions of highly occupied properties 2011 respectively in thousands

also contributed to the improvement in overall

occupancy as we acquired properties during 2012
2012 2011

New Leasing Activity

totaling approximately 6.7 million square feet that
First Generation

had average occupancy on acquisition of 944%
5628 3597

New Leasing Activtty

Second Generation
4911 6256

The increase in average annual net effective rent per Renewal Leasing Activity
13626 9819

square foot is primarily the result of shift in product Total Leasing Activity
24165 19672

mix as we increased our investment in Medical

Office properties which generally earn significantly New Second Generation Leases

higher rent per square foot than office and industrial

properties during 2012 The following table sets forth the estimated costs of

tenant improvements and leasing commissions on

Total Leasing Activity per square foot basis that we are obligated to fulfill

under the new second generation leases signed for our

The initial leasing of development projects or vacant consolidated rental properties during the years ended

space in acquired properties is referred to as first December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively square feet

generation lease activity The re-leasing of space that data in thousands

Estimated Tenant Improvement Leasing Commissions per

Cost per Square Foot square Foot

Square Feet of New

Second Generation Leases

Average Term

in Years

Industrial

Office

Medical Office

Other

Total

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012

3900 4512 7.0 5.3 2.65 2.11

972 1728 6.7 5.9 17.36 14.17

39 14 6.6 5.8 15.41 29.65

3.0

4911 6256

2011 2012 2011

1.55

7.33

6.67

.$
6.9 5.4 5.66 5.50

1.33

6.50

14.39

1.63

2.73 2.79
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The reduction in new second generation leases in

2012 was in large part correlated with the increase

in the lease renewal percentage for the year as we

had less vacant space available to be re-let to new

tenants

Office

Medical Office

Other

Total

We were successful in executing renewals during

2012 across all product types and markets with our

large industrial spaces having the most impact The

most significant individual renewal leases took place

in our Indianapolis Cincinnati Chicago and Columbus

industrial markets

Lease Renewals

The following table summarizes our lease renewal

activity within our consolidated rental properties for the

years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

square feet data in thousands

Lease Expirations

Our ability to maintain and improve occupancy rates and

net effective rents primarily depends upon our continuing

ability to re-lease expiring space The following table reflects

our consolidated in-service portfolio lease expiration

schedule including square footage and annualized net

effective rent for expiring leases by property type as of

December 31 2012 in thousands except percentage data

Square Feet Percent of Estimated Tenant

of Leases Expiring Leases Average Term Growth Decline in Improvement Cost Leasing Commissions

Renewed Renewed in Years Net Effective Rents per Square Foot per Square Foot

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

IndustrIal 12168 7875 85.4% 67.6% 5.2 3.9 1.0% 4.1% 0.42 0.78 0.80 0.76

1431 1857 73.0% 66.0% 4.1 4.6 2.2% 1.4% 3.35 $5.58 3.01 4.43

27 76 39.1% 80.0% 6.5 4.3 6.1% 9.4% 1.59 3.32 1.14 1.46

11 86.3% 4.7 4.5% 3.06

13626 9819 83.7% 67.4% 5.1 4.0 1.4% 2.7% 0.73 1.71 $1.03 1.46

Represents the percentage change in net effective rent between the original leases and the renewal leases Net effective rents represent average annual base rental payments on straight-line basis for the term of each

lease excluding operating expense reimbursements

Total Consolidated Portfolio Industrial Office Medical Office Other

Square

Feet

11812

12530

11177

13111

11609

10356

8257

7834

5652

5628

Ann Rent

Revenue

62205

67376

60882

67913

66613

68651

50560

48537

35581

30946

of

Revenue

10%

11%

9%

11%

10%

11%

8%

8%

5%

5%

Square

Feet

10021

10675

9333

11251

9821

8117

6671

6497

4685

4899

Year of

Expiration

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

2022

2023 and

Thereafter

Total Leased

Total Portfolio

Square Feet

Percent Leased

Ann Rent

Revenue

37530

41985

37423

42267

39427

30884

24063

25738

19538

16934

Square

Feet

1634

1658

1760

1600

1392

1530

1154

868

577

270

Ann Rent

Revenue

$22035

21812

21665

20387

18.401

20660

15629

12996

6833

4644

Square

Feet

141

190

64

237

272

496

357

429

360

428

Ann Rent

Revenue

2421

3371

1299

4765

5713

11644

8517

8932

8503

8.671

Square Ann Rent

Feet Revenue0

16 219

208

20 495

23 494

124 3072

213 5.463

75 2351

40 871

30 707

31 697

9227 74.776 12% 6902 28948 707 10492 1546 34120 72 1216

107193 634040 100% 88872 344737 13150 175554 4520 97956 651 15793

115582 94265 15610 4968 739

92.7% 94.3% 84.2% 91.0% 88.1%

Annualized rental revenue represents average annual base rental payments ova straight-line basis for the term of each lease from space leased to tenants at the end of the most recent reporting period Annualized rental

revenue excludes additional amounts paid by tenants as reimbursement for operating expenses
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Information on current market rents can be difficult

to obtain is highly subjective and is often not directly

comparable between properties Because of this

we believe the increase or decrease in net effective

rent on lease renewals as previously defined is the

most objective and meaningful relationship between

rents on leases expiring in the near-term and current

market rents

Acquisition Activity

Our decision process in determining whether or not to

acquire target property or portfolio involves several

factors including expected rent growth multiple yield

metrics property locations and expected demographic

growth in each location current occupancy of the

target properties tenant profile and remaining terms

of the in-place leases in the target properties We

pursue both brokered and non-brokered acquisitions

and it is difficult to predict which markets and product

types may present acquisition opportunities Because

of the numerous factors considered in our acquisition

decisions we do not establish specific target yields for

future acquisitions

We acquired 37 properties during the year ended

December 31 2012 and 59 properties in addition to

other real estate-related assets during the year ended

December 31 2011 The following table summarizes the

acquisition price percent leased at time of acquisition

and in-place yields by product type for these

acquisitions in thousands except percentage data

Office

Medical Office

Total

514455

779658

94.9% 516251

90603

92.9% 143241

94.4% 750095

6.6%

5.1%

7.3%

6.5%

92.7%

66.8%

98.1%

91.5%

Includes real estate assets and net acquired lease-related intangible assets but excludes other acquired working capital assets and liabilities

In-place yields of completed acquisitions are calculated as the Current annualized net rental payments from space leased to tenants at the date of acquisition divided by the acquisition price of the acquired real estate

Annualized net rental payments are comprised of base rental payments excluding additional amounts payable by tenants as reimbursement for operating expenses less current annualized operating enpenses not

recovered through tenant reimbursements

Represents percentage of total square feet leased based on eoecuted leases and without regard to whether the leases have commenced at the date of acquisition

Disposition Activity

We regularly work to identify consider and pursue

opportunities to dispose of properties on an

opportunistic basis and on basis that is generally

consistent with our strategic plans

2012 DIspositions

We sold 28 buildings during the year ended December

31 2012 and 119 buildings during the year ended

December 31 2011 The following table summarizes

the sales prices in-place yields and percent leased by

product type of these building sales in thousands

except percentage data

2011 Dispositions

In-Place In-Place

Type Sales Price Yield Percent Leased Sales Price Yield Percent Leased

Industrial 60913 8.4% 79.3% 82903 6.0% 69.4%

Office 58881 7.1% 79.4% 1546094 8.4% 85.7%

Other 11400 9.0% 80.5%

Total 131194 7.9% 79.4% 1628997 8.2% 83.5%

In-place yields of completed dispositions are calculated as current annualized net rental payments from space leased to tenants at the date vf sale divided by the sales price of the real estate Annualized net rental

payments are comprised of base rental payments excluding additional amounts payable by tenants as reimbursement for operaung enpenses less current annualized operating expenses not recovered through tenant

reimbursements

Represents percentage of total square feet leased based no executed leases and without regard to whether the leases have commenced at the date of sale

Industrial 265203 6.6%

2012 AcquisItions 2011 Acquisitions

Percent Leased Percent Leased

Acquisition in-Place at Acquisition Acquisition In-Place at Acquisition

Type PricV Yield Date Price Yield Date5

6.5%

6.5%
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Development

Another source of our earnings growth is our wholly-

owned and joint venture development activities We

expect to generate future earnings from Rental Operations

as the development properties are placed in service and

leased We increased our development activities in 2012

for industrial and medical office properties with significant

pre-leasing as well as for speculative developments in

limited circumstances in markets that we believe will

provide future growth We believe these two product

lines will be the areas of greatest future growth

We directly own over 3500 acres of undeveloped land

of which we intend to develop over 2200 acres We

believe that the land we intend to develop can support

over 37.0 million square feet of primarily industrial but

also office and medical office developments

We had 4.4 million square feet of consolidated or

jointly controlled properties under development with

total estimated costs upon completion of $578.5

million at December 31 2012 compared to 913000

square feet of property under development with total

estimated costs of $213.5 million at December 31

2011 The square footage and estimated costs include

both wholly-owned and joint venture development

activity at 100% The following table summarizes our

properties under development as of December 31

2012 in thousands except percentage data

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

summary of our operating results and property

statistics for each of the years in the three-year period

ended December 31 2012 is as follows in thousands

except number of properties and per share data

Rental and related revenue from continuing operations

General contractor and service fee revenue

Operating income

Net income loss attributable to common shareholders

Weighted average common shares outstanding

Weighted average common shares and potential dilutive securities

Basic income loss per common share

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Diluted income loss per common share

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Number of in-service consolidated properties at end of year

In-service consolidated square footage at end of year

Number of in-service joint venture properties at end of year

In-service joint venture square footage at end of year

0.53 0.27 0.18

0.05 0.38 0.11

0.53 0.27 0.18

0.05 0.38 0.11

629 616 669

115582 110296 114078

126 126 114

25614 25295 22657

Total

Estimated Total Amount

Square Percent Project Incurred Remaining

Feet Leased Costs to Date to be SpentOwnership Type

Consolidated properties 3572 84% 468847 225222 243625

Joint venture properties 874 31% 109648 54994 54654

Total 4446 73% 578495 280216 298279

2012

834369

275071

160959

126145

2011

742883

521796

217984

31416

2010

669543

515361

184567

14108

238920

238920

267900 252694

267900 259598
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COMPARISON OF YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31 2012 TO YEAR
ENDED DECEMBER 31 2011

Rental and Related Revenue

The following table sets forth rental and related

revenue from continuing operations by reportable

segment as well as total rental and related revenue

from discontinued operations for the years ended

December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively in thousands

overall improvement within these properties

as rental rates increased modestly but did not

significantly contribute to the increase in revenues

from continuing operations

The overall shift of revenues and income from

office properties to industrial and medical office

properties is consistent with our continuing strategy

to increase our asset concentration in industrial

and medical office properties while reducing our

overall investment in office properties

Rental and Related Revenue

Industrial

Office

Medical Office

Other

Total Rental and Related

Revenue from Continuing

Operations

Rental and Related Revenue

from Discontinued Operations

Total Rental and Related

Revenue from Continuing

and Discontinued Operations

Total Rental Expenses from

Continuing Operations

Rental Expenses from

Discontinued Operations

Total Rental Expenses

from Continuing and

Discontinued Operations

Real Estate Taxes

Industrial

Office

Medical Office

Other

Total Real Estate Tax Expense

from Continuing Operations

Real Estate Tax Expense from

Discontinued Operations

Total Real Estate Tax Expense

from Continuing and

Discontinued Operations

2012 2011

The decrease in rental revenues from discontinued

operations is primarily result of the Blackstone Office

438525 379030 Disposition that took place in December 2011

267982

98647

29.215

272807

57673

33.373

834369 742883

8284 194166

842653 937049

Rental Expenses and Real Estate Taxes

The following table sets forth rental expenses and real

estate taxes from continuing operations by reportable

segment as well as total rental expenses and real estate

taxes from discontinued operations for the years ended

December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively in thousands

2012 2011

Rental Expenses

Industrial

Office

Medical Office

Other

44309

79467

23026

6333

41.362

77979

17121

8155

The primary reasons for the increase in rental

revenue from continuing operations with specific

references to particular segment when applicable

are summarized below

We acquired 96 properties of which 51 were

industrial and 38 were medical office and placed

eleven developments in service from January

2011 to December 31 2012 which provided

incremental revenues of $91.3 million in the year

ended December 31 2012 over 2011

The sale of 13 office properties to an unconsolidated

joint venture in the first quarter of 2011 resulted

in $10.1 million decrease in rental and related

revenue from continuing operations in 2012 which

partially offset the impact of newly acquired or

developed properties

The remaining increase in rental and related

revenue from continuing operations is primarily

due to improved results within the properties

that have been in service for all of 2011 and 2012

Higher levels of occupancy primarily drove the

153135 144.617

2255 60430

155390 205.047

67041 59.353

33059 34298

9689 5102

3854 3524

113643 102277

1031 28693

114674 130970
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Overall rental expenses from continuing operations

increased by $8.5 million in 2012 compared to 2011

While we recognized incremental rental expenses

of $9.5 million associated with the additional 96

properties acquired and eleven developments placed

in service since January 2011 we also sold 13 office

properties to an unconsolidated joint venture in late

March 2011 which resulted in $2.8 million decrease

in rental expenses from continuing operations in 2012

as compared to 2011

Overall real estate taxes from continuing operations

increased by $11.4 million in 2012 compared to 2011

We recognized incremental real estate tax expense

of $12.4 million associated with the additional 96

properties acquired and eleven developments placed

in service since January 2011 This increase was

partially offset by $1.6 million decrease in real estate

taxes from continuing operations related to the 13

properties that were sold to an unconsolidated joint

venture during the first quarter of 2011

Service Operations

The following table sets forth the components of the

Service Operations reportable segment for the years

ended December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively in

thousands

business operations of third-party property owners

and joint venture partners significant decrease in

third-party construction volume in 2012 compared to

2011 due to some significant third-party construction

jobs being completed drove the decrease in our

earnings from Service Operations In 2012 we focused

more of our internal resources on the development

and leasing of properties we own rather than on

replacing the third-party construction contracts that

were completed

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense increased

from $326.2 million in 2011 to $376.0 million in 2012

primarily due to depreciation related to additions to

our continuing operations asset base from acquisition

activity which have shorter depreciable lives relative

to developed properties and developments placed in

service in 2011 and 2012

Gain on Sale of Properties Continuing Operations

We sold 18 properties during 2011 that did not meet

the criteria for inclusion in discontinued operations

recognizing total gains on sale of $68.5 million

General and Administrative Expenses

General contractor and

service fee revenue

General contractor and other

services expenses

Total

254870 480480

20201 41316

Service Operations primarily consist of the leasing

property management asset management

development construction management and general

contractor services for joint venture properties and

properties owned by third parties Service Operations

are heavily influenced by the current state of the

economy as leasing and property management fees

are dependent upon occupancy while construction

and development services rely on the expansion of

General and administrative expenses consist of two

components The first component includes general

corporate expenses and the second component includes

the indirect operating costs not allocated to or absorbed

by the development or Rental Operations of our wholly-

owned properties or our Service Operations The

indirect operating costs that are either allocated to or

absorbed by the development or Rental Operations of

our wholly-owned properties or our Service Operations

are primarily comprised of employee compensation

including related costs such as benefits and wage-related

taxes but also include other ancillary costs such as

travel and information technology support Total indirect

operating costs prior to any allocation or absorption and

general corporate expenses are collectively referred to as

our overall pool of overhead costs

Service Operations

2012 2011

275071 521796
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Those indirect costs not allocated to or absorbed

by these operations are charged to general and

administrative expenses We regularly review our

total overhead cost structure relative to our leasing

development and construction volume and adjust the

level of total overhead generally through changes in

our level of staffing in various functional departments

as necessary in order to control overall general and

administrative expense

General and administrative expenses increased from

$43.1 million in 2011 to $46.4 million in 2012 The

following table sets forth the factors that led to the

increase in general and administrative expenses from

2011 to 2012 in millions

General and administrative expenses 2011

Reduction to overall pool of overhead costs

Increased absorption of costs by wholly-owned

development and leasing activities

Reduced allocation of costs to Service Operations

and Rental Operations

General and administrative expenses 2012

Interest Expense

Interest expense allocable to continuing operations

increased from $220.5 million in 2011 to $245.2 million in

2012 We had $47.4 million of interest expense allocated

to discontinued operations in 2011 associated with the

properties that were disposed of during 2011 compared

to the allocation of only $3.1 million of interest expense

to discontinued operations for 2012 Total interest

expense combined for continuing and discontinued

operations decreased from $267.8 million in 2011 to

$248.3 million in 2012 The reduction in total interest

expense was primarily the result of lower weighted

average borrowing rate in 2012 due to refinancing some

higher rate bonds in 2011 and 2012 as well as slight

decrease in our average level of borrowings compared

to 2011 Also due to an increase in properties under

development from 2011 which met the criteria for

capitalization of interest and were financed in part by

common equity issuances during 2012 $5.0 million

increase in capitalized interest also contributed to the

decrease in total interest expense in 2012

Acquisition-Related Activity

Discontinued Operations

Subject to certain criteria the results of operations for

properties sold during the year to unrelated parties or

classified as held-for-sale at the end of the period are

required to be classified as discontinued operations

The property specific components of earnings that

are classified as discontinued operations include rental

revenues rental expenses real estate taxes allocated

interest expense and depreciation expense as well as

the net gain or loss on the disposition of properties

The operations of 150 buildings are currently classified

as discontinued operations These 150 buildings consist

of 114 office 30 industrial four retail and two medical

office properties As result we classified operating

losses before gain on sales of $1.5 million $1.8 million

and $7.1 million in discontinued operations for the years

ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Of these properties 28 were sold during 2012 101

properties were sold during 2011 and 19 properties

were sold during 2010 The gains on disposal of these

properties of $13.5 million $100.9 million and $33.1

million for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and

During 2012 we recognized approximately $4.2

million in acquisition costs compared to $2.3 million

of such costs in 2011 The increase from 2011 to 2012

is the result of acquiring higher volume of medical

office properties where higher level of acquisition

costs are incurred than other property types in 2012

43.1

During 2011 we also recognized $1.1 million gain

11.0 related to the acquisition of building from one of our

50%-owned unconsolidated joint ventures

14.7

29.0

46.4

We reduced our total pool of overhead costs through staff reductions and Other measures as

the result of changes in our product mb and anticipated future levels of third-party construction

leasing management and Other operational activities

We increased our focus on development of wholly-owned properties and also significantly

increased our leasing activity during 20t2 which resulted in an increased absorption of overhead

costs We capitalized $30.4 million and $20.0 million of our total overhead costs to leasing and

development respectively for consolidated properties during 20t2 compared no capitalizing $25.3

million and sf0.4 million of Such costs respectively for 201t Combined Overhead costs capitahzed

to leasing and development totaled 3t.t% and 20.6% of our overall pool of overhead costs for 2012

and 2011 respectively

The reduction in the allocation of overhead costs to Service Operations and Rental Operations

resulted from reduced volumes of third-party construction prolects as well as due to reducing our

overall investment in office properties which are more management intensive
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2010 respectively are also reported in discontinued

operations There are two properties classified as

held-for-sale and included in discontinued operations

at December 31 2012

COMPARISON OF YEAR ENDED

DECEMBER 31 2011 TO YEAR ENDED

DECEMBER 31 2010

Rental and Related Revenue

The following table sets forth rental and related revenue

from continuing operations by reportable segment

as well as total rental and related revenue from

discontinued operations for the years ended December

31 2011 and 2010 respectively in thousands

Total Rental and Related

Revenue from Continuing

Operations

Rental and Related Revenue

from Discontinued Operations

Total Rental and Related

Revenue from Continuing

and Discontinued Operations

2011 2010

742883 669543

194166 248024

937049 917567

The primary reasons for the increase in rental

revenue from continuing operations with specific

references to particular segment when applicable

are summarized below

We acquired 108 properties of which 87 were

industrial and placed nine developments in

service from January 2010 to December 31

2011 which provided incremental revenues of

$79.8 million in the year ended December 31 2011

over 2010

We consolidated 106 industrial buildings as

result of acquiring our joint venture partners

50% interest in Dugan Realty L.L.C Dugan on

July 2010 The consolidation of these buildings

resulted in an increase of $37.2 million in rental

and related revenue for the year ended December

31 2011 as compared to the same period in 2010

We sold 23 office properties to an unconsolidated

joint venture in 2010 and the first quarter of 2011

resulting in $55.2 million decrease in rental and

related revenue from continuing operations in 2011

The remaining increase in rental and related

revenues is primarily due to improved results

within the properties that have been in service

for all of 2010 and 2011 Although rental rates

declined slightly on our lease renewals the effect

was not significant to revenues and improved

occupancy drove the overall improvement within

these properties

Rental Expenses and Real Estate Taxes

The following table sets forth rental expenses

and real estate taxes from continuing operations

by reportable segment as well as total rental

expenses and real estate taxes from discontinued

operations for the years ended December 31 2011

and 2010 respectively in thousands

2011 2010

144617 134866

60430 72146

205047 207012

59353 42303

34298 39420

5102 3330

3524 3553

102277 88606

28693 35266

130970 123872

Rental and Related Revenue

Industrial

Office

Medical Office

Other

379030

272807

57673

33373

280538

313712

44287

31006

41362

77979

17121

8155

28.033

88378

12780

5675

Rental Expenses

Industrial

Office

Medical Office

Other

Total Rental Expenses from

Continuing Operations

Rental Expenses from

Discontinued Operations

Total Rental Expenses from

Continuing and Discontinued

Operations

Real Estate Taxes

Industrial

Office

Medical Office

Other

Total Real Estate Tax Expense

from Continuing Operations

Real Estate Tax Expense from

Discontinued Operations

Total Real Estate Tax Expense

from Continuing and Discontinued

Operations
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We recognized incremental rental expenses of $16.2

million associated with the additional 108 properties

acquired of which 87 were industrial and nine

developments placed in service since January

2010 The July 2010 consolidation of 106 industrial

buildings in Dugan also resulted in $5.3 million

increase in rental expense for industrial properties

The aforementioned increases were partially offset

by decrease of $12.5 million related to 23 properties

that were sold to an unconsolidated joint venture

during 2010 and the first quarter of 2011

We recognized incremental real estate taxes of $12.8

million associated with the additional 108 properties

acquired and nine developments placed in service since

January 2010 The July 2010 consolidation of 106

industrial buildings in Dugan resulted in incremental

real estate taxes of $6.2 million The aforementioned

increases were partially offset by decrease of $7.8

million related to 23 properties that were sold to an

unconsolidated joint venture during 2010 and the first

quarter of 2011 The remaining increases were the result

of increased taxes on our properties that have been in

service for all of 2010 and 2011

Service Operations

The following table sets forth the components of the

Service Operations reportable segment for the years

ended December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively in

thousands

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense increased

from $276.0 million in 2010 to $326.2 million in 2011

primarily as the result of acquisition activity where

depreciation expense is accelerated relative to

developed properties in 2010 and 2011

Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Companies

Equity in earnings represents our ownership share of

net income or loss from investments in unconsolidated

companies that generally own and operate rental

properties Equity in earnings decreased from $8.0

million in 2010 to $4.6 million in 2011 The decrease

was largely due to the consolidation of 106 properties

upon the acquisition of our partners 50% interest in

Dugan on July 2010

Gain on Sale of Properties Continuing Operations

Gains on sales of properties classified in continuing

operations increased from $39.7 million in 2010 to

$68.5 million in 2011 We sold 18 properties during

2011 that did not meet the criteria for inclusion in

discontinued operations compared to 17 of such

properties in 2010 Of the properties sold in 2011 and

2010 13 and seven properties respectively were sold

to 20%-owned joint venture The combined gain on

sale of these properties was $62.1 million and $31.9

million in 2011 and 2010 respectively

General contractor and

service fee revenue

General contractor and other

services expenses

Total

480480 486865

41316 28496

The increase in earnings from Service Operations

was due to increased profitability on third-party

construction activities performed during 2011

compared to 2010 as overall construction volume

was relatively consistent between the years

Impairment charges classified in continuing

operations include the impairment of undeveloped

land and buildings investments in unconsolidated

subsidiaries and other real estate related assets The

increase from $9.8 million in 2010 to $12.9 million in

2011 is primarily due to the following activity

In 2011 we recognized $12.9 million of impairment

charges related to parcels of land which we intend

to sell where recent market activity led us to

determine that decline in fair value had occurred

Service Operations

2011 2010

impairment Charges

521796 515361
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In 2010 we sold approximately 60 acres of land

in two separate transactions which resulted

in impairment charges of $9.8 million These

sales were opportunistic in nature and we had

not identified or actively marketed this land for

disposition as it was previously intended to be

held for development

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased from

$41.3 million in 2010 to $43.1 million in 2011 The

following table sets forth the factors that led to the

increase in general and administrative expenses from

2010 to 2011 in millions

General and administrative expenses 2010 41.3

Increase to overall pool of overhead costs

Increased absorption of costs by wholly-owned

development and leasing activities

Increased allocation of costs to Service Operations

and Rental Operations

General and administrative expenses 2011

The increase to our overall pool of overhead costs from 2010 is largely due to increased severance

pay related to overhead reductions that took place near the end of 2011

Our total leasing activity increased and we also increased wholly owned development activities

from 2010 we capitalized $25.3 million and $10.4 million of our total overhead costs to leasing and

development respectively for consolidated properties during 2011 cnmyared to capitalizing $23.5

million and $8.5 million of such costs respectively for 2010 Combined overhead COOS capItalized

to leasing and development totaled 20.6% and 19.1% of our overall pool of overhead Costs for 2011

and 2010 respechnely

Interest Expense

Interest expense from continuing operations increased

from $186.4 million in 2010 to $220.5 million in 2011

The increase was primarily result of increased

average outstanding debt during 2011 compared to

2010 which was driven by our acquisition activities as

well as other uses of capital $7.2 million decrease

in the capitalization of interest costs the result of

developed properties no longer meeting the criteria

for interest capitalization also contributed to the

increase in interest expense

Gain Loss on Debt Transactions

There were no gains or losses on debt transactions

during 2011

During 2010 through cash tender offer and open

market transactions we repurchased certain of our

outstanding series of unsecured notes scheduled

to mature in 2011 and 2013 In total we paid $292.2

million for unsecured notes that had face value

of $279.9 million We recognized net loss on

extinguishment of $16.3 million after considering the

write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs

discounts and other accounting adjustments

Acquisition-Related Activity

During 2011 we recognized approximately $2.3 million

in acquisition costs compared to $1.9 million of such

costs in 2010 During 2011 we also recognized $1.1

million gain related to the acquisition of building

from one of our 50%-owned unconsolidated joint

ventures compared to $57.7 million gain in 2010

on the acquisition of our joint venture partners 50%

interest in Dugan

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements

in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of

assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets

and liabilities at the date of the financial statements

and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses

during the reported period Our estimates judgments

and assumptions are inherently subjective and based

on the existing business and market conditions and

are therefore continually evaluated based upon

available information and experience Note to the

Consolidated Financial Statements includes further

discussion of our significant accounting policies Our

management has assessed the accounting policies

used in the preparation of our financial statements

and discussed them with our Audit Committee and

independent auditors The following accounting

policies are considered critical based upon materiality

to the financial statements degree of judgment

involved in estimating reported amounts and sensitivity

to changes in industry and economic conditions

5.7

3.7

0.2

43.1
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Accounting for Joint Ventures We analyze our

investments in joint ventures to determine if the

joint venture is variable interest entity VIE
and would require consolidation We evaluate the

sufficiency of the total equity at risk ii review the

voting rights and decision-making authority of the

equity investment holders as group and whether

there are any guaranteed returns protection against

losses or capping of residual returns within the group

and iii establish whether activities within the venture

are on behalf of an investor with disproportionately

few voting rights in making this VIE determination

To the extent that we are the sole entity that has

the power to direct the activities of the VIE and ii

have the obligation or rights to absorb the VIEs

losses or receive its benefits then we would be

determined to be the primary beneficiary of the VIE

and would consolidate it At each reporting period

we re-assess our conclusions as to which if any party

within the VIE is considered the primary beneficiary

To the extent that our joint ventures do not qualify

as VIEs we further assess each partners substantive

participating rights to determine if the venture should

be consolidated

We have equity interests in unconsolidated joint

ventures that own and operate rental properties and

hold land for development To the extent applicable

we consolidate those joint ventures that are considered

to be VIEs where we are the primary beneficiary

For non-variable interest entities we consolidate

those joint ventures that we control through majority

ownership interests or where we are the managing

entity and our partner does not have substantive

participating rights Control is further demonstrated

by the ability of the general partner to manage day-

to-day operations refinance debt and sell the assets

of the joint venture without the consent of the limited

partner and inability of the limited partner to replace

the general partner We use the equity method of

accounting for those joint ventures where we do not

have control over operating and financial policies

Under the equity method of accounting our investment

in each joint venture is included on our balance sheet

however the assets and liabilities of the joint ventures

for which we use the equity method are not included on

our balance sheet

To the extent that we contribute assets to joint venture

our investment the joint venture is recorded at our

cost basis in the assets that were contributed to the joint

venture To the extent that our cost basis is different than

the basis reflected at the joint venture level the basis

difference is amortized over the life of the related asset

and included in our share of equity in earnings of the

joint venture We recognize gains on the contribution or

sale of real estate to joint ventures relating solely to the

outside partners interest to the extent the economic

substance of the transaction is sale

Cost Capitalization Direct and certain indirect

costs including interest clearly associated with the

development construction leasing or expansion of

real estate investments are capitalized as cost of

the property

We capitalize interest and direct and indirect project

costs associated with the initial construction of

property up to the time the property is substantially

complete and ready for its intended use We believe

the completion of the building shell is the proper

basis for determining substantial completion The

interest rate used to capitalize interest is based upon

our average borrowing rate on existing debt

We also capitalize direct and indirect costs including

interest costs on vacant space during extended lease-

up periods after construction of the building shell has

been completed if costs are being incurred to ready

the vacant space for its intended use If costs and

activities incurred to ready the vacant space cease

then cost capitalization is also discontinued until such

activities are resumed Once necessary work has been

completed on vacant space project costs are no

longer capitalized We cease capitalization of all project

costs on extended lease-up periods after the shorter of

one-year period after the completion of the building

shell or when the property attains 90% occupancy In

addition all leasing commissions paid to third parties

for new leases or lease renewals are capitalized

Annu Report 2012 DUKE REALTY CORPORAflON



In assessing the amount of indirect costs to be

capitalized we first allocate payroll costs on

department-by-department basis among

activities for which capitalization is warranted

i.e construction development and leasing and

those for which capitalization is not warranted i.e

property management maintenance acquisitions

and dispositions and general corporate functions To

the extent the employees of department split their

time between capitalizable and non-capitalizable

activities the allocations are made based on estimates

of the actual amount of time spent in each activity

Once the payroll costs are allocated the non-payroll

costs of each department are allocated among the

capitalizable and non-capitalizable activities in the

same proportion as payroll costs

To ensure that an appropriate amount of costs are

capitalized the amount of capitalized costs that are

allocated to specific project are limited to amounts

using standards we developed These standards

consist of percentage of the total development

costs of project and percentage of the total

gross lease amount payable under specific lease

These standards are derived after considering the

amounts that would be allocated if the personnel in

the departments were working at full capacity The

use of these standards ensures that overhead costs

attributable to downtime or to unsuccessful projects

or leasing activities are not capitalized

Impairment of Real Estate Assets We evaluate our

real estate assets with the exception of those that are

classified as held-for-sale for impairment whenever

events or changes in circumstances indicate that their

carrying amounts may not be recoverable If such

an evaluation is considered necessary we compare

the carrying amount of that real estate asset or

asset group with the expected undiscounted cash

flows that are directly associated with and that are

expected to arise as direct result of the use and

eventual disposition of that asset or asset group

Our estimate of the expected future cash flows

used in testing for impairment is based on among

other things our estimates regarding future market

conditions rental rates occupancy levels costs of

tenant improvements leasing commissions and

other tenant concessions assumptions regarding

the residual value of our properties at the end of

our anticipated holding period and the length of

our anticipated holding period and is therefore

subjective by nature These assumptions could differ

materially from actual results If our strategy changes

or if market conditions otherwise dictate reduction

in the holding period and an earlier sale date an

impairment loss could be recognized and such loss

could be material To the extent the carrying amount

of real estate asset or asset group exceeds the

associated estimate of undiscounted cash flows an

impairment loss is recorded to reduce the carrying

value of the asset to its fair value

The determination of the fair value of real estate assets

is also highly subjective especially in markets where

there is lack of recent comparable transactions We

primarily utilize the income approach to estimate

the fair value of our income producing real estate

assets To the extent that the assumptions used in

testing long-lived assets for impairment differ from

those of marketplace participant the assumptions

are modified in order to estimate the fair value of

real estate asset when an impairment charge is

measured In addition to determining future cash

flows which make the estimation of real estate

assets undiscounted cash flows highly subjective the

selection of the discount rate and exit capitalization

rate used in applying the income approach is also

highly subjective

To the extent applicable marketplace data is

available we generally use the market approach in

estimating the fair value of undeveloped land that

is determined to be impaired

Real estate assets that are classified as held-for

sale are reported at the lower of their carrying

value or their fair value less estimated costs to sell
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Acquisition of Real Estate Property and Related

Assets We allocate the purchase price of acquired

properties to tangible and identified intangible

assets based on their respective fair values using

all pertinent information available at the date

of acquisition The allocation to tangible assets

buildings tenant improvements and land is

based upon managements determination of the

value of the property as if it were vacant This as-

if vacant value is estimated using an income or

discounted cash flow approach that relies upon

internally determined assumptions that we believe

are consistent with current market conditions

for similar properties The most important

assumptions in determining the allocation of

the purchase price to tangible assets are the

exit capitalization rate discount rate estimated

market rents and hypothetical expected lease-up

periods The purchase price of real estate assets

is also allocated to intangible assets consisting of

the above or below market component of in-place

leases and the value of in-place leases

The value allocable to the above or below

market component of an acquired in-place

lease is determined based upon the present

value using discount rate which reflects

the risks associated with the acquired leases

of the difference between the contractual

amounts to be received pursuant to the lease

over its remaining term and ii managements

estimate of the amounts that would be received

using fair market rates over the remaining term

of the lease The amounts allocated to above

market leases are included in deferred leasing

and other costs in the balance sheet and below

market leases are included in other liabilities

in the balance sheet both are amortized to

rental income over the remaining terms of the

respective leases

Factors considered in determining the

value allocable to in-place leases include

estimates during hypothetical expected

lease-up periods of space that is actually

leased at the time of acquisition of lost

rent at market rates fixed operating costs

that will be recovered from tenants and

theoretical leasing commissions required

to execute similar leases These intangible

assets are included in deferred leasing and

other costs in the balance sheet and are

amortized over the remaining term of the

existing lease or the anticipated life of

the customer relationship as applicable

We record assets acquired in step acquisitions

at their full fair value and record gain or

loss for the difference between the fair value

and the carrying value of our existing equity

interest Additionally contingencies arising

from business combination are recorded at

fair value if the acquisition date fair value can

be determined during the measurement period

Valuation of Receivables We are subject to tenant

defaults and bankruptcies that could affect

the collection of rent due under leases or of

outstanding receivables In order to mitigate these

risks we perform credit reviews and analyses on

major existing tenants and prospective tenants

before leases are executed We have established

the following procedures and policies to evaluate

the collectability of outstanding receivables and

record allowances

We maintain tenant watch list containing

list of significant tenants for which the payment

of receivables and future rent may be at risk

Various factors such as late rent payments lease

or debt instrument defaults and indications of

deteriorating financial position are considered

when determining whether to include tenant

on the watch list

As matter of policy we reserve the entire

receivable balance including straight-line rent

of any tenant with an amount outstanding over

90 days

Straight-line rent receivables for any tenant

on the watch list or any other tenant identified

as potential long-term risk regardless of the

status of current rent receivables are reviewed

and reserved as necessary
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Construction Contracts We recognize income on

construction contracts where we serve as general

contractor on the percentage of completion method

Using this method profits are recorded on the basis

of our estimates of the overall profit and percentage

of completion of individual contracts portion of

the estimated profits is recognized based upon our

estimates of the percentage of completion of the

construction contract To the extent that fixed-

price contract is estimated to result in loss the

loss is recorded immediately Cumulative revenues

recognized may be less or greater than cumulative

costs and profits billed at any point in time during

contracts term This revenue recognition method

involves inherent risks relating to profit and cost

estimates with those risks reduced through approval

and monitoring processes

With regard to critical accounting policies

management has discussed the following with the

Audit Committee

Criteria for identifying and selecting our critical

accounting policies

Methodology in applying our critical accounting

policies and

Impact of the critical accounting policies on

our financial statements

The Audit Committee has reviewed the critical

accounting policies identified by management

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Sources of Liquidity

We expect to meet our short-term liquidity

requirements over the next twelve months including

payments of dividends and distributions as well as

the capital expenditures needed to maintain our

current real estate assets primarily through working

capital net cash provided by operating activities and

proceeds received from real estate dispositions At

December 31 2012 we held $33.9 million of cash and

we had $285.0 million of outstanding borrowings on

the DRLP $850.0 million unsecured line of credit

In addition to our existing sources of liquidity we

expect to meet long-term liquidity requirements

such as scheduled mortgage and unsecured

debt maturities property acquisitions financing

of development activities and other capital

improvements through multiple sources of capital

including operating cash flow proceeds from

property dispositions and accessing the public

debt and equity markets

In January 2013 we completed public offering

of 41.4 million common shares at an issue price

of $14.25 per share resulting in gross proceeds

of $590.0 million and after underwriting fees

and estimated offering costs net proceeds of

approximately $571.9 million portion of the net

proceeds from this offering were used to repay all

of the outstanding borrowings under our existing

revolving credit facility which had an outstanding

balance of $285.0 million as of December 31 2012

and the remaining proceeds will be used to redeem

all of our outstanding Series Shares which are

redeemable as of February 22 2013 and for general

corporate purposes

Rental Operations

Cash flows from Rental Operations is our primary

source of liquidity and provides stable cash flow

to fund operational expenses We believe that this

cash-based revenue stream is substantially aligned

with revenue recognition except for periodic

straight-line rental income accruals and amortization

of above or below market rents as cash receipts

from the leasing of rental properties are generally

received in advance of or short time following the

actual revenue recognition

We are subject to number of risks related to general

economic conditions including reduced occupancy

tenant defaults and bankruptcies and potential

reduction in rental rates upon renewal or re-letting of

properties any of which would result in reduced cash

flow from operations
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Unsecured Debt and Equity Securities

Our unsecured line of credit as of December 31 2012 is described as follows in thousands

Description

Unsecured Line of Credit DRLP

Borrowing Maturity

Capacity Date

850000 December 2015

Outstanding Balance

at December 31 2012

285000

All amounts that were outstanding on the line of

credit at December 31 2012 were repaid in January

2013 with proceeds from the equity offering

The DRLP unsecured line of credit has borrowing

capacity of $850.0 million with the interest rate on

borrowings of LIBOR plus 1.25% equal to 1.47% for

borrowings as of December 31 2012 and maturity

date of December 2015 Subject to certain conditions

the terms also include an option to increase the

facility by up to an additional $400.0 million for

total of up to $1.25 billion This line of credit provides

us with an option to obtain borrowings from financial

institutions that participate in the line at rates that

may be lower than the stated interest rate subject to

certain restrictions

This line of credit contains financial covenants that

require us to meet certain financial ratios and defined

levels of performance including those related to

fixed charge coverage unsecured interest expense

coverage and debt-to-asset value with asset value

being defined in the DRLP unsecured line of credit

agreement As of December 31 2012 we were in

compliance with all covenants under this line of credit

At December 31 2012 we had on file with the SEC

an automatic shelf registration statement on Form

S-3 relating to the offer and sale from time to

time of an indeterminate amount of DRLPs debt

securities including guarantees thereof and the

Companys common shares preferred shares and

other securities From time to time we expect to

issue additional securities under this automatic shelf

registration statement to fund the repayment of

long-term debt upon maturity and for other general

corporate purposes

On February 11 2010 we entered into an at the

market equity program that allowed us to issue new

common shares from time to time with an aggregate

offering price of up to $150.0 million We fully utilized

this program during the first three months of 2012

issuing approximately 10.8 million common shares

resulting in gross proceeds of $150.0 million We

paid approximately $3.0 million in commissions

related to the sales of these common shares and

after considering those commissions and other costs

generated net proceeds of approximately $147.0

million from the offerings

On May 2012 we entered into new at the market

equity program that allows us to issue new common

shares from time to time with an aggregate offering

price of up to $200.0 million Through December 31

2012 we issued approximately 11.9 million common

shares under this program resulting in gross proceeds

of approximately $172.2 million We paid approximately

$3.4 million in commissions related to the sales of

these common shares and after considering those

commissions and other costs generated net proceeds

of approximately $168.3 million from the offerings

The indentures and related supplemental indentures

governing our outstanding series of notes also require

us to comply with financial ratios and other covenants

regarding our operations We were in compliance

with all such covenants as of December 31 2012

Sale of Real Estate Assets

We regularly work to identify consider and pursue

opportunities to dispose of non-strategic properties

on an opportunistic basis and on basis that is

generally consistent with our strategic plans Our ability

to dispose of such properties on favorable terms or at all
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is dependent upon number of factors including the

availability of credit to potential buyers to purchase

properties at prices that we consider acceptable

Although we believe that we have demonstrated

our ability to generate significant liquidity through

the disposition of non-strategic properties potential

future adverse changes to general market and

economic conditions could negatively impact our

further ability to dispose of such properties

Transactions with Unconsolidated Entitles

Transactions with unconsolidated partnerships and joint

ventures also provide source of liquidity From time to

time we will sell properties to unconsolidated entities

while retaining continuing interest in that entity and

receive proceeds commensurate to those interests that

we do not own Additionally unconsolidated entities

will from time to time obtain debt financing and will

distribute to us and our joint venture partners all or

portion of the proceeds from such debt financing

Uses of Liquidity

Our principal uses of liquidity include the following

property investment

leasing/capital costs

dividends and distributions to shareholders and

unitholders

long-term debt maturities

opportunistic repurchases of outstanding debt and

preferred stock and

other contractual obligations

Property Investment

We continue to pursue an asset repositioning strategy

that involves increasing our investment concentration

in industrial and medical office properties while

reducing our investment concentration in suburban

second generation tenant improvements

Second generation leasing costs

Building improvements

Totals

office properties Pursuant to this strategy we evaluate

development and acquisition opportunities based upon

market outlook including general economic conditions

supply and long-term growth potential Our ability to

make future property investments along with being

dependent upon identifying suitable acquisition and

development opportunities is also dependent upon our

continued access to our longer-term sources of liquidity

including issuances of debt or equity securities as well as

generating cash flow by disposing of selected properties

Leasing/Capital Costs

Tenant improvements and leasing commissions related

to the initial leasing of newly completed or vacant space

in acquired properties are referred to as first generation

expenditures Such expenditures are included within

development of real estate investments and other

deferred leasing costs in our Consolidated Statements

of Cash Flows

Tenant improvements and leasing costs to re-let

rental space that had been previously under lease

to tenants are referred to as second generation

expenditures Building improvements that are not

specific to any tenant but serve to improve integral

components of our real estate properties are also

second generation expenditures

One of our principal uses of our liquidity is to fund

the second generation leasing/capital expenditures

of our real estate investments As illustrated in the

tables below we have significantly reduced such

expenditures in 2012 as direct result of repositioning

our investment concentration in office properties in

accordance with our asset strategy

The following is summary of our second generation

capital expenditures by type of expenditure in

thousands

2012 2011

26643 50079

31059 38130

6182 11055

63884 99264

2010

36676

39.090

12957

88723
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Industrial

Office

Medical Office

Non-reportable Rental Operations segments

Total

Both our first and second generation expenditures

vary significantly between leases on per square

foot basis dependent upon several factors including

the product type the nature of tenants operations

the specific physical characteristics of each individual

property as well as the market in which the property

is located Second generation expenditures related

to the 79 suburban office buildings that were sold in

the Blackstone Office Disposition in December 2011

totaled $26.2 million in 2011 and $20.2 million in 2010

Dividends and Distributions

We are required to meet the distribution requirements

of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended

the Code in order to maintain our REIT status

Because depreciation is non-cash expense cash

flow will typically be greater than operating income

We paid dividends of $0.68 per common share for

each of the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and

2010 We expect to continue to distribute at least

an amount equal to our taxable earnings to meet

the requirements to maintain our REIT status and

additional amounts as determined by our board of

directors Distributions are declared at the discretion

of our board of directors and are subject to actual

cash available for distribution our financial condition

capital requirements and such other factors as our

board of directors deems relevant

At December 31 2012 we had four series of preferred

stock outstanding The annual dividend rates on our

preferred shares range between 6.5% and 8.375%

and are paid in arrears quarterly In January 2013

56

63884

we called for redemption all of our outstanding Series

Shares The redemption date is February 22 2013

and the cash redemption price is $178.0 million As

result of this redemption we will reduce our future

quarterly dividend commitments by $3.7 million

In March 2012 we redeemed all of our Series Shares

for total payment of $168.3 million thus reducing our

future quarterly dividend commitments by $2.9 million

In July 2011 we redeemed all of our 7.25% Series

Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares Series

Shares for total payment of $108.6 million thus

reducing our future quarterly dividend commitments

by $2.0 million

Debt Maturities

Debt outstanding at December 31 2012 had face

value totaling $4.4 billion with weighted average

interest rate of 5.86% and with maturity dates ranging

between 2013 and 2028 Of this total amount we

had $3.0 billion of unsecured debt $1.2 billion of

secured debt and $285.0 million outstanding on the

DRLP unsecured line of credit at December 31 2012

Scheduled principal amortization and maturities of

such debt totaled $360.4 million for the year ended

December 31 2012

The following is summary of the scheduled future

amortization and maturities of our indebtedness at

December 31 2012 in thousands except percentage

data

The following is summary of our second generation capital expenditures by reportable operating segment

in thousands

____________________________________________________ 2012 2011 2010

33095

30092

641

34872

63933

410

49

99264

23271

65203

183

66

88723
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Future Repayments Weighted Average

We anticipate generating capital to fund our debt

maturities by using undistributed cash generated

from our Rental Operations and property dispositions

and by raising additional capital from future debt or

equity transactions such as our January 2013 common

offering

Repurchases of Outstanding Debt and Preferred

Stock

We paid $168.3 million in March 2012 to redeem our

Series Shares at par value

In January 2013 we called for redemption all 711820

of our outstanding Series Shares The redemption

date is February 22 2013 and the cash redemption

price for the Series Shares is $178.0 million or

$250.00 per share

To the extent that it supports our overall capital strategy

we may purchase certain of our outstanding unsecured

debt prior to its stated maturity or redeem or repurchase

certain of our outstanding series of preferred stock

Guarantee Obligations

We are subject to various guarantee obligations in

the normal course of business and in most cases do

not anticipate these obligations to result in significant

cash payments

We are however subject to joint and several guarantee

of the loan agreement of the 3630 Peachtree joint

venture contingent liability in the amount of $17.3

million which represents our maximum remaining

future exposure under the guarantee is included within

other liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheet as

of December 31 2012 based on the probability of us

being required to pay this obligation to the lender

HISTORICAL CASH FLOWS

Cash and cash equivalents were $33.9 million

and $213.8 million at December 31 2012 and 2011

respectively The following highlights significant

changes in net cash associated with our operating

investing and financing activities in thousands

Net cash Provided by Operating Activities

Net Cash Provided by Used for Investing Activities

Net Cash Provided by Used for Financing Activities

2011

337537

750935

893047

2010

391156

288790

231304

Year

Scheduled
Interest Rate of

Amortization Maturities Total Future Repayments

2013 17921
6.24%

2014 16659
6.14%

2015 14999
4.53%

2016 12591
6.09%

2017 10100
5.90%

2018 7937
6.08%

2019 6.936
7.97%

2020 5381
6.73%

2021 3416
5.59%

2022 3611
4.20%

2023 3817
3817 5.60%

529811 547732

314904 331563

664946 679945

532249 544840

556511 566611

300000 307.937

518438 525374

250000 255381

9047 12463

600000 603.611

Thereafter 10361 50000 60361

113729 4325906 4439635

7.02%

5.86%

2012

Years Ended December 31

299157

967616

488539
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Operating Activities

Cash flows from operating activities provide the cash

necessary to meet normal operational requirements

of our Rental Operations and Service Operations

activities The receipt of rental income from Rental

Operations continues to provide the primary source

of our revenues and operating cash flows

The decrease in cash flows from operations from

2011 to 2012 noted in the table above was primarily

due to the overall reduction in rental revenues from

discontinued operations which was driven by the

disposition of significant portion of our office

properties in December 2011 This overall change in

product mix correspondingly drove $35.4 million

decrease in cash outflows for second generation

capital expenditures classified within investing

activities during 2012

The decrease in net cash provided by operating

activities from 2010 to 2011 is in large part due

to $10.9 million increase in cash outflows from

third-party construction contracts as well as $14.7

million increase in cash paid for interest Our third-

party construction activities were profitable in the

aggregate during 2011 and the net cash outflows

during the year were the result of the timing of cash

receipts and payments

Investing Activities

Investing activities are one of the primary uses of

our liquidity Development and acquisition activities

typically generate additional rental revenues and provide

cash flows for operational requirements Highlights of

significant cash sources and uses are as follows

Real estate development costs totaled $264.8 million

for the year ended December 31 2012 compared to

$162.1 million and $119.4 million for the years ended

December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively We have

increased our development activities in 2012 for

industrial and medical office properties

During 2012 we paid cash of $665.5 million for real

estate acquisitions compared to $544.8 million in

2011 and $488.5 million in 2010 In addition we

paid cash of $64.9 million for undeveloped land

in 2012 compared to $14.1 million in 2011 and $14.4

million in 2010 The increase in land acquisitions

in 2012 is the result of land acquired for specific

development projects that commenced shortly

after acquisition

Sales of land and depreciated property provided

$138.1 million in net proceeds in 2012 compared to

$1.57 billion in 2011 and $499.5 million in 2010

We received capital distributions as result

of the sale of properties or refinancing from

unconsolidated subsidiaries of $5.2 million in 2012

$59.3 million in 2011 and $22.1 million in 2010

During 2012 we contributed or advanced $28.5

million to fund development activities within

unconsolidated companies compared to $34.6

million in 2011 and $53.2 million in 2010

Financing Activities

The following items highlight significant capital

transactions

Throughout 2012 we issued 22.7 million shares

of common stock for net proceeds of $315.3

million We had rio common stock issuances in

2011 In June 2010 we issued 26.5 million shares of

common stock for net proceeds of $298.1 million

In March 2012 we redeemed all of the outstanding

shares of our Series Shares for total payment

of $168.3 million In July 2011 we redeemed all of

the outstanding shares of our Series Shares for

total payment of $108.6 million

Throughout 2011 and 2010 we completed open

market repurchases of approximately 80000

shares and 4.5 million shares respectively of

our Series Shares We paid $2.1 million in 2011

for shares that had face value of $2.0 million

compared to $118.8 million in 2010 for shares that

had face value of $112.1 million

In September 2012 we issued $300.0 million

of senior unsecured notes that bear interest at

3.875% and mature on October 15 2022 In June

2012 we issued $300.0 million of senior unsecured

notes that bear interest at 4.375% and mature on

Anr Rcport 2O2 DUKE REALTY CORPORATiON 41



June 15 2022 We had no senior unsecured note

issuances in 2011 In April 2010 we issued $250.0

million of senior unsecured notes that bear

interest at an effective rate of 6.75% and mature

in March 2020

In October 2012 we repaid $50.0 million of medium

term notes which had an effective interest rate of

5.45% at their scheduled maturity date In August

2012 we repaid $150.0 million of senior unsecured

notes which had an effective interest rate of 6.01%

at their scheduled maturity date In July 2012 one

of our consolidated subsidiaries repaid $21.0 million

of variable rate unsecured debt which bore interest

at rate of LIBOR plus 0.85% at its scheduled

maturity In December 2011 we repaid the

remaining $167.6 million of our 3.75% Exchangeable

Notes which had an effective interest rate of

5.62% at their scheduled maturity date In August

and March 2011 we also repaid $122.5 million and

$42.5 million respectively of unsecured notes with

an effective rate of 5.69% and 6.96% respectively

at their scheduled maturity dates In January 2010

we repaid $99.8 million of senior unsecured notes

with an effective interest rate of 5.37% at their

scheduled maturity date

During 2010 through cash tender offer and

open market transactions we repurchased

certain of our outstanding series of unsecured

notes scheduled to mature in 2011 and 2013 In

total we paid $292.2 million for unsecured notes

that had face value of $279.9 million

Throughout the year ended December 31 2012

we repaid five secured loans totaling $102.1 million

which had weighted average stated interest rate

of 6.08% at their maturity dates This compares to

payoffs of $12.8 million in 2011 comprised of four

individually insignificant secured loans and $195.4

million in 2010 which was secured debt that we

assumed upon the July 2010 acquisition of our joint

venture partners 50% interest in Dugan

We increased net borrowings on DRLPs $850.0

million line of credit by $285.0 million for the

year ended December 31 2012 compared to

decrease of $175.0 million in 2011 and an increase

of $175.0 million in 2010

We paid cash dividends of $0.68 per common

share in each of the years ended December 31

2012 2011 and 2010

CREDIT RATINGS

We are currently assigned investment grade

corporate credit ratings on our senior unsecured

notes from Moodys Investors Service and Standard

and Poors Ratings Group Our senior unsecured

notes have been assigned ratings of BBB- and Baa2

by Standard and Poors Ratings Group and Moodys

Investors Service respectively

Our preferred shares carry ratings of BB and Baa3

from Standard and Poors Ratings Group and Moodys

Investors Service respectively

The ratings of our senior unsecured notes and preferred

shares could change based upon among other things

the impact that prevailing economic conditions may

have on our results of operations and financial condition

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We are exposed to capital market risk such as

changes in interest rates In order to reduce the

volatility relating to interest rate risk we may enter

into interest rate hedging arrangements from time to

time We do not utilize derivative financial instruments

for trading or speculative purposes

OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

Investments In Unconsolidated Companies

We have equity interests in unconsolidated

partnerships and limited
liability companies that

primarily own and operate rental properties and hold

land for development These unconsolidated joint

ventures are primarily engaged in the operations and

development of industrial office and medical office real

estate properties The equity method of accounting

see Critical Accounting Policies is used for these

investments in which we have the ability to exercise
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significant influence but not control over operating and

financial policies As result the assets and liabilities of

these entities are not included on our balance sheet

Our investments in and advances to unconsolidated

subsidiaries represent approximately 5% of our total

assets as of December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

We believe that these investments provide several

benefits to us including increased market share tenant

and property diversification and an additional source of

capital to fund real estate projects

The following table presents summarized financial

information for unconsolidated companies for the years

ended December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively in

thousands except percentage data

Joint Ventures

Land buildings and tenant improvements net

Construction in progress

Undeveloped land

Other assets

Indebtedness

Other liabilities

Owners equity

Rental revenue

Gain on sale of properties

Net income

We do not have any relationships with unconsolidated

entities or financial partnerships special purpose

entities that have been established solely for the

purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements

Contractual Obligations

Long-term debt

Line of credit

Share of unconsolidated joint

ventures debt

Ground leases

Operating leases

Development and construction

backlog costs

70519 71241

1385021 1388795

1132781 1361976

2517802 2550771

291534 272937

6792 2304

3125 10709

26487 25569

92.15% 90.42%

At December 31 2012 we were subject to certain

contractual payment obligations as described in the

following table

Payments due by Period In thousands

2014 2015 2016

552693 582411 710802

6365 290.867

2012

1991823

61663

175143

289173

2517802

1314502

2011

2051412

12208

177742

309409

2550771

1317554

Total square feet

Percent leased

Represents the percentage of total square feet leased based on executed leases and without regard to whether the leases have commenced

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

Total

5370074

303597

484823

206487

10174

2013

777490

6365

136231

3692

2638

64963

3769

2667

2017

692959

106059

3835

699

90999

3788

1858

Thereafter

2053719

62770

187589

592

23.801

3814

1720

309239 301425 7814

Other 1.807 514 394 397 401 101

Total Contractual Obligations 6686201 $1228355 638665 970320 740538 803653 2304670

Our long-term debt consists of bath secured and unsecured debt and includes bath principal and interest Interest expense for variable rate debt was calculated using the interest rates as of December 312012

Our unsecured line of credit consists of an operating line of credit that matures December 2015 Interest expense for our unsecured line of credit was calculated using the most recent stated interest rate that

was in effect

Our share of unconsolidated ioint venture debt includes bath principal and interest Interest eopense for variable rate debt was calculated using the interest rate at December 31 2012

Represents estimated remaining costs on the completion of owned developmevt proiects and third-party construction projects
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

We provide property and asset management

leasing construction and other tenant related

services to unconsolidated companies in which

we have equity interests For the years ended

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

we earned management fees of $11.0 million $10.1

million and $7.6 million leasing fees of $3.4 million

$4.4 million and $2.7 million and construction

and development fees of $4.7 million $6.7 million

and $10.3 million from these companies prior to

elimination We recorded these fees based on

contractual terms that approximate market rates

for these types of services and we have eliminated

our ownership percentages of these fees in the

consolidated financial statements

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

We have guaranteed the repayment of $83.8

million of economic development bonds issued by

various municipalities in connection with certain

commercial developments We will be required to

make payments under our guarantees to the extent

that incremental taxes from specified developments

are not sufficient to pay the bond debt service

Management does not believe that it is probable

that we will be required to make any significant

payments in satisfaction of these guarantees

We also have guaranteed the repayment of secured

and unsecured loans of five of our unconsolidated

subsidiaries At December 31 2012 the maximum

guarantee exposure for these loans was

approximately $247.1 million Included in our total

guarantee exposure is joint and several guarantee

of the loan agreement of the 3630 Peachtree joint

venture which had carrying amount of $17.3

million on the balance sheet at December 31 2012

We lease certain land positions with terms

extending to October 2105 with total obligation

of $206.5 million No payments on these ground

leases which are classified as operating leases are

material in any individual year

We are subject to various legal proceedings and

claims that arise in the ordinary course of business

In the opinion of management the amount of any

ultimate liability with respect to these actions will

not materially affect our consolidated financial

statements or results of operations

We own certain parcels of land that are subject to

special property tax assessments levied by quasi

municipal entities To the extent that such special

assessments are fixed and determinable the

discounted value of the full assessment is recorded

as liability We have $12.5 million of such special

assessment liabilities which are included within

other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet

as of December 31 2012
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QUANTITATIVE AND

QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE

ABOUT MARKET RISKS

We are exposed to interest rate changes primarily

as result of our line of credit and long-term

borrowings Our interest rate risk management

objective is to limit the impact of interest rate

changes on earnings and cash flows and to lower

overall borrowing costs To achieve our objectives

we borrow primarily at fixed rates We do not enter

into derivative or interest rate transactions for

speculative purposes We have two outstanding

swaps which fix the rates on two of our variable

rate loans and are not significant to our Financial

Statements at December 31 2012

Our interest rate risk is monitored using variety of

techniques The table below presents the principal

amounts in thousands of the expected annual

maturities weighted average interest rates for the

average debt outstanding in the specified period

fair values in thousands and other terms required

to evaluate the expected cash flows and sensitivity

to interest rate changes

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter Total Fair Value

Fixed rate secured 119549 78186 142056 391794 102017 309404 1143006 1251477

debt

Weighted average 5.72%

interest rate

Variable rate secured 1218

debt

Weighted average

interest rate

5.63% 5.42% 5.85% 5.96% 7.43%

1285

1.20% 1.18%

Fixed rate unsecured 426965

debt

663 676 12071 2499 18412 18386

2.06% 2.09% 3.51% 0.20%

252092 252226 152370 452523 1457041 2993217 3336386

As the table incorporates only those exposures that

exist as of December 31 2012 it does not consider

those exposures or positions that could arise after

that date As result the ultimate impact of interest

rate fluctuations will depend on future exposures that

arise our hedging strategies at that time to the extent

we are party to interest rate derivatives and interest

rates Interest expense on our unsecured line of credit

will be affected by fluctuations in LIBOR indices as

well as changes in our credit rating The interest rate

at such point in the future as we may renew extend

or replace our unsecured line of credit will be heavily

dependent upon the state of the credit environment

At December 31 2012 the face value of our

unsecured debt was $3.0 billion and we estimated

the fair value of that unsecured debt to be $3.3

billion At December 31 2011 the face value of our

unsecured notes was $2.6 billion and our estimate

of the fair value of that debt was $2.8 billion

Weighted average

interest rate

Unsecured line of

credit

Rate at December

31 2012

6.40% 6.33% 7.49% 6.71% 5.95%

N/A

285000

N/A 1.47%

5.86%

285000 285632

N/A N/A N/A
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MANAGEMENTS REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL

We as management of Duke Realty Corporation and its subsidiaries Duke Realty are responsible for establishing

and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15f under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission

internal control over financial reporting is process designed by or under the supervision of the companys principal

executive and principal financial officers or persons performing similar functions and effected by the companys

board of directors management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States of America and includes those policies and procedures that

Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of assets of the company

Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures

of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the

company and

Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Management has evaluated the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2012

based on the control criteria established in report entitled Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission Based on such evaluation we have concluded

that as of December 31 2012 our internal control over financial reporting is effective based on these criteria

The independent registered public accounting firm of KPMG LLP as auditors of Duke Realtys consolidated financial

statements has also issued an audit report on Duke Realtys internal control over financial reporting

Dennis Oklak Christie Kelly

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Shareholders and Directors of

Duke Realty Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Duke Realty Corporation and Subsidiaries

the Company as of December 31 2012 and 2011 and the related consolidated statements of operations and

comprehensive income cash flows and changes in equity for each of the years in the three-year period ended

December 31 2012 We also have audited the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2012 based on criteria established in Internal Control- Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO The Companys management is responsible for these consolidated

financial statements for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the

effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying managements report on

internal control Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and an opinion

on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was

maintained in all material respects Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included examining on test

basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting principles

used and significant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation Our

audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial

reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating

effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk Our audits also included performing such other procedures

as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinions

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding

the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies

and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded

as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and

that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and

directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the financial

position of Duke Realty Corporation and Subsidiaries as of December 312012 and 2011 and the results of their operations

and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31 2012 in conformity with U.S generally

accepted accounting principles Also in our opinion Duke Realty Corporation and Subsidiaries maintained in all material

respects effective internal control overfinancial reporting as of December 312012 based on criteria established in Internal

Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

KPc LCP

Indianapolis Indiana

February 22 2013
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DUKE REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets

As of December 31

In thousands except per share amounts

ASSETS

Real estate investments

Land and improvements

Buildings and tenant improvements

Construction in progress

Investments in and advances to unconsolidated companies

Undeveloped land

Accumulated depreciation

Net real estate investments

Real estate investments and other assets held-for-sale

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable net of allowance of $3374 and $3597

Straight-line rent receivable net of allowance of $6091 and $7447

Receivables on construction contracts including retentions

Deferred financing costs net of accumulated amortization of $48218 and $59109

Deferred leasing and other costs net of accumulated amortization of $372047 and $292334

Escrow deposits and other assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Indebtedness

Secured debt

Unsecured notes

Unsecured lines of credit

Construction payables and amounts due subcontractors including retentions

Accrued real estate taxes

Accrued interest

Other accrued expenses

Other liabilities

Tenant security deposits and prepaid rents

Total liabilities

Shareholders equity

Preferred shares $01 par value 5000 shares authorized 2503 and 3176 shares issued and

outstanding

Common shares $01 par value 400000 shares authorized 279423 and 252927 shares issued

and outstanding

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Distributions in excess of net income

Total shareholders equity

Noncontrolling interests

Total equity

2012 2011

1284081 1202872

5398886 4766793

234918 44259

372256 364859

614208 622635

7904349 7001418

1296396 1108650

Liabilities related to real estate investments held-for-sale

6607953 5892768

30937 55580

33889 213809

22283 22255

120303 105900

39754 40247

40083 42268

497827 460881

167072 170729

7560101 7004.437

1167953 1173233

2993217 2616063

285000 20293

4446170 3809589

807 975

84679 55775

74565 69.272

59215 58904

57881 60174

167935 131735

42731 38355

4933983 4224779

625638 793910

2794 2529

3953497 3594588

2691 987

1993206 1677328

2591414 2714686

34704 64.972

2626118 2779658

7560101 7004437

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Other operating activities

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated companies

Gain on sale of properties

Undeveloped land carrying costs

Impairment charges

Other operating expenses

General and administrative expenses

Operating income

Other income expenses

Interest and other income net

Interest expense

Loss on debt transactions

Acquisition-related activity

Income loss from continuing operations before income taxes

Income tax benefit

Income loss from continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Loss before gain on sales

Gain on sale of depreciable properties

Income from discontinued operations

Net income loss

Dividends on preferred shares

Adjustments for redemption/repurchase of preferred shares

Net income loss attributable to noncontrolling interests

Net income loss attributable to common shareholders

Basic net income loss per common share

Continuing operations attributable to common shareholders

Discontinued operations attributable to common shareholders

Total

Diluted net income loss per common share

Continuing operations attributable to common shareholders

Discontinued operations attributable to common shareholders

Total

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding

Weighted average number of common shares and potential dilutive securities

Comprehensive income loss

Net income loss

Other comprehensive income

Derivative instrument activity

Other comprehensive income

Comprehensive income loss

DUKE REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Operations

For the Years Ended December 31

In thousands except per share amounts

Revenues

Rental and related revenue

General contractor and service fee revenue

Expenses

Rental expenses

Real estate taxes

General contractor and other services expenses

Depreciation and amortization

2012 2011 2010

834369

275071

1109440

742883

521796

1264679

669543

515361

1184904

153135 144617 134866

113643 102277 88606

254870 480480 486865

375965 326.226 276045

897613 1053.600 986.382

4674 4565 7980

344 68549 39662

8829 8934 9203

12931 9834

633 1237 1231

46424 43107 41329

50868 6905 13955

160959 217984 184567

514 658 534

245170 220.455 186407

16349

4192 1188 55820

87889 3001 38165

103 194 1126

87786 2807 39291

1549 1766 7.083

13467 100.882 33054

11918 99116 25.971

75868 96309 65262

46438 60353 69468

5730 3796 10438

1891 744 536

126145 31416 14108

0.53 0.27 0.18

0.05 0.38 0.11

0.48 0.11 0.07

0.53 0.27 0.18

0.05 0.38 0.11

0.48 0.11 0.07

267900 252694 238920

267900 259598 238920

75868 96309 65262

1704 2419 4198

1704 2419 4198

74164 98728 69460

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial StatemØiit
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DUKE REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31

in thousands

Net income loss

Adjustments to reconcile net income loss to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation of buildings and tenant improvements

Amortization of deferred leasing and other costs

Amortization of deferred financing costs

Straight-line rent adjustment

Impairment charges

Loss on debt extinguishment

Gain on acquisitions

Earnings from land and depreciated property sales

Third-party construction contracts net

Other accrued revenues and expenses net

Operating distributions received in excess of equity in earnings from unconsolidated

companies

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Development of real estate investments

Acquisition of real estate investments and related intangible assets net of cash acquired

Acquisition of undeveloped land

Second generation tenant improvements leasing costs and building improvements

Other deferred leasing costs

Other assets

Proceeds from land and depreciated property sales net

Capital distributions from unconsolidated companies

Capital contributions and advances to unconsolidated companies

Net cash provided by used for investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of common shares net

Payments for redemption/repurchase of preferred shares

Proceeds from unsecured debt issuance

Payments on and repurchases of unsecured debt

Proceeds from secured debt financings

Payments on secured indebtedness including principal amortization

Borrowings payments on lines of credit net

Distributions to common shareholders

Distributions to preferred shareholders

Contributions from distributions to noncontrolling interests net

Buyout of noncontrolling interests

Book overdrafts

Deferred financing costs

Net cash provided by used for financing activities

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivaients

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Non-cash investing and financing activities

Assumption of indebtedness and other liabilities in real estate acquisitions

Contribution of properties to net of debt assumed by unconsolidated companies

Investments and advances related to acquisition of previously unconsolidated companies

Assumption of indebtedness by buyer in real estate dispositions

Conversion of Limited Partner Units to common shares

Issuance of Limited Partner Units for acquisition

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Cash flows from operating activities

2012 2011 2010

75868 96309 65262

262825 267222 271058

116594 118457 89126

13321 14530 13897

19546 23877 15233

12931 9834

16349

1057 57715

13811 169431 72716

10837 17352 6449

13300 24001 68892

13179 15804 8851

299157 337537 391156

264755 162070 119404

665527 544816 488539

64944 14090 14404

63884 99264 88723

27772 26311 38905

4504 747 7.260

138118 1572093 499520

5157 59252 22119

28513 34606 53194

967616 750935 288.790

315295 298004

168272 110726 118787

600000 250000

222846 334432 392597

13336 4158

117287 29025 207060

264707 172753 177276

181892 171814 162015

46438 60353 69468

2179 5292 5741

6208

45272

9307 8652 5074

488539 893047 231304

179920 195425 128938

213809 18384 147322

33889 213809 18384

112754 177082 527464

53293 41609

5987 184140

24914

29213 3.130 8055

28357
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Stock based compensation plan activity

Conversion of Limited Partner Units

Distributions to preferred shareholders

Repurchase of preferred shares

Distributions to common shareholders

$0.68 per share

Distributions to noncontrolling interests

Balance at December 31 2010

Net income

Other comprehensive income

Issuance of Limited Partner Units for

acquisition

Stock based compensation plan activity

Conversion of Limited Partner Units

Distributions to preferred shareholders

Redemption/repurchase of preferred

shares

Distributions to common shareholders

$0.68 per share

Distributions to noncontrolling interests

Balance at December 31 2011

Net loss

Other comprehensive income

Issuance of common shares

Stock based compensation plan activity

Conversion of Limited Partner Units

Distributions to preferred shareholders

Redemption of preferred shares

Distributions to common shareholders

$0.68 per share

Contributions from noncontrolling

interests net

Buyout of noncontrolling interests

Balance at December 312012

DUKE REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
ConsolIdated Statements of Changes In EquIty

In thousands except per share data

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Balance at December 31 2009

Net income

Other comprehensive income

Issuance of common shares

Common

Stock

$2240

Common Shareholders

Accumulated

Additional Other

Paid-in Comprehensive

Capital Income Loss

3267196 5630

Preferred

Stock

$1016625

112085

Distributions

in Excess of

Net Income

1355086

Non-

Controlling

Interests

42515

65798 536

265 297801

13056

14 8069

3736

$904540 2522 3573720

4198

1432

2531

69468

10438

162015

1533740

95565

Total

2967860

65262

4198

298066

10528

69468

118787

162015

5741

2989903

96309

8055

5741

44293

744

2419 2419

28357 28357

14041 3190 10855

3127 3130

60353 60353

110630 3700 3796 110726

171814 171814

5292 5292

793910 2529 3594588 987 1677328 64972 2779658

73977 1891 75868

1704 1704

227 314596 314823

13 9395 2976 6432

25 29188 29213

46438 46438

168272 5730 5730 168272

181892 181892

2179 2179

4865 1343 6208

625638 2794 3953497 2691 1993206 34704 2626118
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DUKE REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

THE COMPANY

Substantially all of our Rental Operations see Note

are conducted through Duke Realty Limited

Partnership DRLP We owned approximately

98.4% of the common partnership interests of

DRLP Units at December 31 2012 At the option

of the holders and subject to certain restrictions

the remaining Units are redeemable for shares of

our common stock on one-to-one basis and earn

dividends at the same rate as shares of our common

stock If it is determined to be necessary in order to

continue to qualify as real estate investment trust

REIT we may elect to purchase the Units for

an equivalent amount of cash rather than issuing

shares of common stock upon redemption We

conduct our Service Operations see Note through

Duke Realty Services LLC Duke Realty Services

Limited Partnership and Duke Construction Limited

Partnership DCLP which are consolidated

entities that are 100% owned by combination of

us and DRLP DCLP is owned through taxable REIT

subsidiary that is 100% owned by DRLP The terms

we us and our refer to Duke Realty Corporation

and subsidiaries the Company and those entities

owned or controlled by the Company

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include our

accounts and the accounts of our majority-owned or

controlled subsidiaries The equity interests in these

controlled subsidiaries not owned by us are reflected

as noncontrolling interests in the consolidated

financial statements All significant intercompany

balances and transactions have been eliminated in

the consolidated financial statements Investments in

entities that we do not control and variable interest

entities VIEs in which we are not the primary

beneficiary are not consolidated and are reflected as

investments in unconsolidated companies under the

equity method of reporting

RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain amounts in the accompanying consolidated

financial statements for 2011 and 2010 have been

reclassified to conform to the 2012 consolidated

financial statement presentation

REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS

Rental real property including land land

improvements buildings and tenant improvements

are included in real estate investments and are

generally stated at cost Wholly-owned properties that

are accounted for as direct financing leases and which

are not material for separate presentation are also

included within real estate investments Construction

in process and undeveloped land are included in

real estate investments and are stated at cost Real

estate investments also include our equity interests in

unconsolidated joint ventures that own and operate

rental properties and hold land for development

Depreciation

Buildings and land improvements are depreciated

on the straight-tine method over their estimated

lives not to exceed 40 and 15 years respectively for

properties that we develop and not to exceed 30

and 10 years respectively for acquired properties

Tenant improvement costs are depreciated using the

straight-line method over the shorter of the useful life

of the asset or term of the related lease

Cost Capitalization

Direct and certain indirect costs clearly associated with

the development construction leasing or expansion

of real estate investments are capitalized as cost of
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the property In addition all leasing commissions paid

to third parties for new leases or lease renewals are

capitalized We capitalize portion of our indirect

costs associated with our construction development

and leasing efforts In assessing the amount of direct

and indirect costs to be capitalized allocations are

made based on estimates of the actual amount of time

spent in each activity We do not capitalize any costs

attributable to downtime or to unsuccessful projects

We capitalize direct and indirect project costs

associated with the initial construction of property

up to the time the property is substantially complete

and ready for its intended use In addition we

capitalize costs including real estate taxes insurance

and utilities that have been allocated to vacant space

based on the square footage of the portion of the

building not held available for immediate occupancy

during the extended lease-up periods after

construction of the building shell has been completed

if costs are being incurred to ready the vacant space

for its intended use If costs and activities incurred to

ready the vacant space cease then cost capitalization

is also discontinued until such activities are resumed

Once necessary work has been completed on

vacant space project costs are no longer capitalized

We cease capitalization of all project costs on

extended lease-up periods when significant activities

have ceased which does not exceed the shorter of

one-year period after the completion of the building

shell or when the property attains 90% occupancy

Impairment

We evaluate our real estate assets with the

exception of those that are classified as held-for-

sale for impairment whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts

may not be recoverable If such an evaluation is

considered necessary we compare the carrying

amount of that real estate asset or asset group

with the expected undiscounted cash flows that

are directly associated with and that are expected

to arise as direct result of the use and eventual

disposition of that asset or asset group Our estimate

of the expected future cash flows used in testing

for impairment is based on among other things

our estimates regarding future market conditions

rental rates occupancy levels costs of tenant

improvements leasing commissions and other tenant

concessions assumptions regarding the residual

value of our properties at the end of our anticipated

holding period and the length of our anticipated

holding period and is therefore subjective by nature

These assumptions could differ materially from actual

results If our strategy changes or if market conditions

otherwise dictate reduction in the holding period

and an earlier sale date an impairment loss could be

recognized and such loss could be material To the

extent the carrying amount of real estate asset

or asset group exceeds the associated estimate

of undiscounted cash flows an impairment loss is

recorded to reduce the carrying value of the asset to

its fair value

The determination of the fair value of real estate assets

is also highly subjective especially in markets where

there is lack of recent comparable transactions We

primarily utilize the income approach to estimate the

fair value of our income producing real estate assets

We utilize marketplace participant assumptions to

estimate the fair value of real estate asset when

an impairment charge is required to be measured

The estimation of future cash flows as well as the

selection of the discount rate and exit capitalization

rate used in applying the income approach are highly

subjective measures in estimating fair value

Real estate assets classified as held-for-sale are

reported at the lower of their carrying value or their

fair value less estimated costs to sell Once property

is designated as held-for-sale no further depreciation

expense is recorded

Purchase AccountIng

We expense acquisition related costs immediately

as period costs We record assets acquired in step

acquisitions at their full fair value and record
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gain or loss within acquisition-related activity in

our consolidated Statements of Operations for the

difference between the fair value and the carrying

value of our existing equity interest Additionally

contingencies arising from business combination are

recorded at fair value if the acquisition date fair value

can be determined during the measurement period

We allocate the purchase price of acquired properties

to tangible and identified intangible assets based

on their respective fair values using all pertinent

information available at the date of acquisition

The allocation to tangible assets buildings

tenant improvements and land is based upon

managements determination of the value of the

property as if it were vacant This as-if vacant value

is estimated using an income or discounted cash

flow approach that relies upon internally determined

assumptions that we believe are consistent with

current market conditions for similar properties

The most important assumptions in determining the

allocation of the purchase price to tangible assets are

the exit capitalization rate discount rate estimated

market rents and hypothetical expected lease-up

periods The purchase price of real estate assets is

also allocated to intangible assets consisting of the

above or below market component of in-place leases

and the value of in-place leases

The value allocable to the above or below market

component of an acquired in-place lease is

determined based upon the present value using

discount rate which reflects the risks associated with

the acquired leases of the difference between the

contractual amounts to be received pursuant to the

lease over its remaining term and iimanagements

estimate of the amounts that would be received using

fair market rates over the remaining term of the lease

The amounts allocated to above market leases are

included in deferred leasing and other costs in the

balance sheet and below market leases are included

in other liabilities in the balance sheet both are

amortized to rental income over the remaining terms

of the respective leases

Factors considered in determining the value

allocable to in-place leases include estimates during

hypothetical expected lease-up periods of space that

is actually leased at the time of acquisition of lost

rent at market rates fixed operating costs that will

be recovered from tenants and theoretical leasing

commissions required to execute similar leases These

intangible assets are included in deferred leasing and

other costs in the balance sheet and are depreciated

over the remaining term of the existing lease or

the anticipated life of the customer relationship as

applicable

JOINT VENTURES

We have equity interests in unconsolidated joint

ventures that primarily own and operate rental

properties or hold land for development We

consolidate those joint ventures that are considered

to be VIEs where we are the primary beneficiary We

analyze our investments in joint ventures to determine

if the joint venture is considered VIE and would

require consolidation We evaluate the sufficiency

of the total equity investment at risk ii review the

voting rights and decision-making authority of the

equity investment holders as group and whether

there are any guaranteed returns protection against

losses or capping of residual returns within the group

and iii establish whether activities within the venture

are on behalf of an investor with disproportionately

few voting rights in making this VIE determination

To the extent that we are the sole entity that has

the power to direct the activities of the VIE and ii

have the obligation or rights to absorb the VIEs losses

or receive its benefits then we would be determined

to be the primary beneficiary of the VIE and would

consolidate it At each reporting period we re-assess

our conclusions as to which if any party within the

VIE is considered the primary beneficiary

During the second quarter of 2012 we provided

additional subordinated financial support to one

of our unconsolidated joint ventures in the form

of member loans We determined this to be
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reconsideration event and re-evaluated our previous

conclusion that this joint venture was not VIE Upon

such reconsideration we determined that the fair

value of the total equity investment at risk was not

sufficient to meet the overall capital requirements of

the joint venture and we therefore concluded that

this venture now meets the applicable criteria to be

considered VIE However for the reasons described

below we have determined there is no individual

primary beneficiary for this joint venture

During the third quarter of 2012 an unconsolidated

venture that was previously determined to be VIE

sold its sole property retired its outstanding debt and

distributed substantially all of its remaining assets

After the aforementioned reconsideration events

there are three unconsolidated joint ventures at

December 31 2012 that we have determined meet

the criteria to be considered VIEs These three

unconsolidated joint ventures were formed with the

sole purpose of developing constructing leasing

marketing and selling or operating properties The

business activities of these unconsolidated joint

ventures have been financed through combination

of equity contributions partner/member loans and

third-party debt that is guaranteed by combination

of us and the other partner/member of each entity

All significant decisions for these unconsolidated

joint ventures including those decisions that most

significantly impact each ventures economic

performance require unanimous approval of each joint

ventures partners or members In certain cases these

decisions also require lender approval Unanimous

approval requirements for these unconsolidated

joint ventures include entering into new leases

setting annual operating budgets selling underlying

properties and incurring additional indebtedness

Because no single entity exercises control over the

decisions that most significantly affect each joint

ventures economic performance we determined

there to be no individual primary beneficiary and that

the equity method of accounting is appropriate

The following is summary of the carrying value

in our consolidated balance sheet as well as our

maximum loss exposure under guarantees for the

three unconsolidated subsidiaries that we have

determined to be VIEs as of December 31 2012 and

2011 respectively in millions

Carrying Value

Maximum Loss

Exposure

Investment in Unconsolidated Companies

Guarantee Obligations

33.5

57.0

We are party to guarantees of the third-party debt of these joint ventures and our maoimum loss exposure is equal to the maximum monetary obligation porsuant to the goaraotee agreements We have

also recorded liability for our probable future obligation under guarantee to the lender of one of these ventures which is included within the carrying value of our guarantee obligations Pursuant to an

agreement with the lender we may make partner loans to this joint venture that will reduce our maoimum guarantee obligation on dollar-for-dollar basis The carrying value of our recorded guarantee

obligations is included in other liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets

To the extent that our joint ventures do not qualify as

VIEs they are consolidated if we control them through

majority ownership interests or if we are the managing

entity general partner or managing member and

our partner does not have substantive participating

rights Control is further demonstrated by our ability

to unilaterally make significant operating decisions

refinance debt and sell the assets of the joint venture

without the consent of the non-managing entity and

the inability of non-managing entity to remove us

from our role as the managing entity Consolidated

joint ventures that are not VIEs are not significant in

any period presented in these consolidated financial

statements

We use the equity method of accounting for those

joint ventures where we exercise significant influence

but do not have control Under the equity method

December 312012 December 31 2011 December 312012

54.7 33.5 54.7

23.3 17.7 144.8

December 31 2011
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of accounting our investment in each joint venture

is included on our balance sheet however the assets

and liabilities of the joint ventures for which we use the

equity method are not included on our balance sheet

To the extent that we contribute assets to joint

venture our investment in the joint venture is recorded

at our cost basis in the assets that were contributed to

the joint venture To the extent that our cost basis is

different than the basis reflected at the joint venture

level the basis difference is amortized over the life of

the related asset and included in our share of equity

in net income of the joint venture We recognize

gains on the contribution or sale of real estate to

joint ventures relating solely to the outside partners

interest to the extent the economic substance of the

transaction is sale

CASH EQUIVALENTS

Investments with an original maturity of three months

or less are classified as cash equivalents

VALUATION OF RECEIVABLES

We reserve the entire receivable balance including

straight-line rent of any tenant with an amount

outstanding over 90 days Additional reserves are

recorded for more current amounts as applicable

where we have determined collectability to be doubtful

Straight-line rent receivables for any tenant with long-

term risk regardless of the status of current rent

receivables are reviewed and reserved as necessary

DEFERRED COSTS

Costs incurred in connection with obtaining financing

are deferred and are amortized to interest expense

over the term of the related loan All direct and indirect

costs including estimated internal costs associated

with the leasing of real estate investments owned

by us are capitalized and amortized over the term of

the related lease We include lease incentive costs

which are payments made on behalf of tenant to

sign lease in deferred leasing costs and amortize

them on straight-line basis over the respective lease

terms as reduction of rental revenues We include as

lease incentives amounts funded to construct tenant

improvements owned by the tenant Unamortized costs

are charged to expense upon the early termination of

the lease or upon early payment of the financing

CONVERTIBLE DEBT ACCOUNTING

Our 3.75% Exchangeable Senior Notes Exchangeable

Notes were issued in November 2006 and had an

exchange rate of 20.47 common shares per $1000

principal amount of the notes representing an exchange

price of $48.85 per common share We repaid the

Exchangeable Notes at the first contractual redemption

date in December 2011 We accounted for the debt and

equity components of our Exchangeable Notes separately

with the value assigned to the debt component equal to

the estimated fair value of debt with similar contractual

cash flows but without the conversion feature resulting

in the debt being recorded at discount The resulting

debt discount was amortized over the period from its

issuance through the date of repayment as additional

non-cash interest expense

Interest expense was recognized on the Exchangeable

Notes at an effective rate of 5.62% The increase to

interest expense in thousands on the Exchangeable

Notes which led to corresponding decrease to net

income for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010

is summarized as follows

Interest expense on Exchangeable Notes excluding effect of accounting for

convertible debt

Effect of accounting for convertible debt

Total interest expense on Exchangeable Notes

2011 2010

5769 7136

2090 2474

7859 9610
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NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

Noncontrolling interests relate to the minority

ownership interests in DRLP and interests in

consolidated property partnerships that are not wholly

owned Noncontrolling interests are subsequently

adjusted for additional contributions distributions to

noncontrolling holders and the noncontrolling holders

proportionate share of the net earnings or losses

of each respective entity We report noncontrolling

interests as component of total equity

When Unit is redeemed Note the change in

ownership is treated as an equity transaction and

there is no effect on our earnings or net assets

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Rental and Related Revenue

management and development fees represent fee-

based third-party contracts and are recognized as

earned based on the percentage of completion method

We recognize income on construction contracts where

we serve as general contractor on the percentage

of completion method Using this method profits are

recorded based on our estimates of the percentage

of completion of individual contracts commencing

when the work performed under the contracts reaches

point where the final costs can be estimated with

reasonable accuracy The percentage of completion

estimates are based on comparison of the contract

expenditures incurred to the estimated final costs

Changes in job performance job conditions and

estimated profitability may result in revisions to costs

and income and are recognized in the period in which

the revisions are determined

The timing of revenue recognition under an operating

lease is determined based upon ownership of the

tenant improvements If we are the owner of the tenant

improvements revenue recognition commences after

the improvements are completed and the tenant takes

possession or control of the space If we determine

that the tenant allowances or improvements we are

funding are lease incentives then we commence

revenue recognition when possession or control of

the space is turned over to the tenant Rental income

from leases is recognized on straight-line basis

We record lease termination fees when tenant has

executed definitive termination agreement with us

and the payment of the termination fee is not subject

to any material conditions that must be met or waived

before the fee is due to us

General Contractor and Service Fee Revenue

Management fees are based on percentage of rental

receipts of properties managed and are recognized

as the rental receipts are collected Maintenance fees

are based upon established hourly rates and are

recognized as the services are performed Construction

Receivables on construction contracts were in net

under-billed position of $16.0 million and $10.6 million

at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

PROPERTY SALES

Gains on sales of all properties are recognized in

accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board

FASB Accounting Standards Codification ASC
360-20 The specific timing of the sale of building

is measured against various criteria in FASB ASC 360-

20 related to the terms of the transactions and any

continuing involvement in the form of management

or financial assistance from the seller associated with

the properties We make judgments based on the

specific terms of each transaction as to the amount of

the total profit from the transaction that we recognize

considering factors such as continuing ownership

interest we may have with the buyer partial sales

and our level of future involvement with the property

or the buyer that acquires the assets If the full accrual

sales criteria are not met we defer gain recognition

and account for the continued operations of the

property by applying the finance installment or cost

recovery methods as appropriate until the full accrual

sales criteria are met Estimated future costs to be
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incurred after completion of each sale are included in

the determination of the gain on sales

To the extent that property has had operations prior

to sale and that we do not have continuing involvement

with the property gains from sales of depreciated

property are included in discontinued operations and the

proceeds from the sale of these held-for-rental properties

are classified in the investing activities section of the

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Rental properties that do not meet the criteria for

presentation as discontinued operations are classified as

gain on sale of properties in the Consolidated Statements

of Operations

NET INCOME LOSS PER COMMON SHARE

Basic net income loss per common share is

computed by dividing net income loss attributable

to common shareholders less dividends on share-

based awards expected to vest referred to as

participating securities and primarily composed

of unvested restricted stock units by the weighted

average number of common shares outstanding for

the period Diluted net income loss per common

share is computed by dividing the sum of basic net

income loss attributable to common shareholders

and the noncontrolling interest in earnings allocable

to Units not owned by us to the extent the Units are

dilutive by the sum of the weighted average number

of common shares outstanding and to the extent

they are dilutive Units outstanding and any potential

dilutive securities for the period

The following table reconciles the components of

basic and diluted net income loss per common

share in thousands

2012 2011 2010

Net income loss attributable to common shareholders

Less Dividends on participating securities

Basic net income loss attributable to common shareholders

Noncontrolling interest in earnings of common unitholders

Diluted net income loss attributable to common shareholders

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding

Weighted average partnership Units outstanding

Other potential dilutive shares

Weighted average number of common shares and potential dilutive securities

The Units are anti-dilutive for the years ended

December 31 2012 and 2010 as result of the net

loss for these periods In addition substantially

all potential shares related to our stock-based

compensation plans are anti-dilutive for all years

presented and potential shares related to our

859

129220 29032 16621

267900 252694 238920

6904

267900 259598 238920

Exchangeable Notes which were repaid in December

2011 were anti-dilutive for the years ended December

31 2011 and 2010 The following table summarizes the

data that is excluded from the computation of net

income loss per common share as result of being

anti-dilutive in thousands

1779

3890

4.331

126145

3075

129220

31416

3243

28173

14108

2513

16621

2012 2011

Noncontrolling interest in earnings of common unitholders 2273

Weighted average partnership Units outstanding 4829

Other potential dilutive shares

Anti-dilutive outstanding potential shares under fixed stock option and other

stock-based compensation plans 1859 1677

Anti-dilutive potential shares under the Exchangeable Notes 3140

Outstanding participating securities 4099 4780

2010

351

5950
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FEDERAL INCOME TAXES

We have elected to be taxed as REIT under the

Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended

To qualify as REIT we must meet number

of organizational and operational requirements

including requirement to distribute at least 90%

of our REIT taxable income to our shareholders

Management intends to continue to adhere to these

requirements and to maintain our REIT status As

REIT we are entitled to tax deduction for the

dividends we pay to shareholders Accordingly we

generally will not be subject to federal income taxes

as long as we currently distribute to shareholders an

amount equal to or in excess of our taxable income

We are also generally subject to federal income taxes

on any taxable income that is not currently distributed

to our shareholders If we fail to qualify as REIT in

Total cash dividends paid

Less Return of capital

Dividends paid deduction

Less capital gain distributions

Dividends paid deduction attributable to adjusted taxable income subject to the

90% distribution requirement

any taxable year we will be subject to federal income

taxes and may not be able to qualify as REIT for four

subsequent taxable years

REIT qualification reduces but does not eliminate the

amount of state and local taxes we pay In addition

our financial statements include the operations of

taxable corporate subsidiaries that are not entitled to

dividends paid deduction and are subject to federal

state and local income taxes As REIT we may also

be subject to certain federal excise taxes if we engage

in certain types of transactions

The following table reconciles our net income loss

to taxable income loss before the dividends paid

deduction and subject to the 90% distribution

requirement for the years ended December 31 2012

2011 and 2010 in thousands

summary of the tax characterization of the dividends paid for the years ended December 31 20122011 and 2010 follows

2012 2011 2010

Common Shares

Ordinary income

Return of capital

Capital gains

Preferred Shares

Ordinary income

Capital gains

3.3% 24.9%

96.7% 56.3%

18.8%

100.0%100.0% 100.0%

100.0% 100.0% 57.0%

43.0%

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

2012 2011 2010

Net income loss 75868 96309 65262

Book/tax differences 148456 12885 74065

Taxable income before the dividends paid deduction 72588 83424 139327

Less capital gains 62403

Adjusted taxable income subject to the 90% distribution requirement 72588 83424 76924

Our dividends paid deduction is summarized below in thousands

2012 2011 2010

228330 232203 231446

152677 144208 86.630

75653 87995 144816

62403

75653 87995 82413

14.1%

85.9%
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Refinements to our operating strategy in 2009

caused us to reduce our projections of taxable

income in our taxable REIT subsidiary As the result

of these changes in our projections we determined

that it was more likely than not that the taxable

REIT subsidiary would not generate sufficient

taxable income to realize any of its deferred tax

assets Accordingly full valuation allowance was

established for our deferred tax assets in 2009 which

we have continued to maintain through December

31 2012 as we still believe the taxable REIT subsidiary

will not generate sufficient taxable income to realize

any of its deferred tax assets Income taxes are not

material to our operating results or financial position

We paid state and local income taxes of $580000

and $340000 in 2012 and 2011 respectively We

received income tax refunds net of federal and state

income tax payments of $19.7 million in 2010 The

taxable REIT subsidiary has no significant net deferred

income tax or unrecognized tax benefit items

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

We follow the framework established under

accounting standard FASB ASC 820 for measuring

fair value of non-financial assets and liabilities that

are not required or permitted to be measured at

fair value on recurring basis but only in certain

circumstances such as business combination

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on the

consolidated balance sheets are categorized based

on the inputs to the valuation techniques as follows

Level inputs utilize quoted prices unadjusted in

active markets for identical assets or liabilities to

which we have access

Level inputs are inputs other than quoted prices

included in Level that are observable for the asset

or liability either directly or indirectly Level inputs

may include quoted prices for similar assets and

liabilities in active markets as well as inputs that

are observable for the asset or liability other than

quoted prices such as interest rates and yield

curves that are observable at commonly quoted

intervals

Level inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset

or liability which are typically based on an entitys

own assumptions as there is little if any related

market activity

In instances where the determination of the fair

value measurement is based on inputs from different

levels of the fair value hierarchy the level in the fair

value hierarchy within which the entire fair value

measurement falls is based on the lowest level input

that is significant to the fair value measurement in

its entirety Our assessment of the significance of

particular input to the fair value measurement in

its entirety requires judgment and considers factors

specific to the asset or liability

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of the financial statements requires

management to make number of estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amount of

assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent

assets and liabilities at the date of the financial

statements and the reported amounts of revenues

and expenses during the period The most significant

estimates as discussed within our Summary of

Significant Accounting Policies pertain to the critical

assumptions utilized in testing real estate assets for

impairment estimating the fair value of real estate

assets when an impairment event has taken place and

allocating the purchase price of acquired properties

to tangible and intangible assets based on their

respective fair values Actual results could differ from

those estimates

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSITIONS

Acquisitions and dispositions during the years ended

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 were completed

in accordance with our strategy to reposition our
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investment concentration among product types and

further diversify our geographic presence With the

exception of certain properties that have been sold

or classified as held for sale the results of operations

for all acquired properties have been included in

continuing operations within our consolidated financial

statements since their respective dates of acquisition

2012 ACQUISITIONS

We acquired 37 operating properties during the

year ended December 31 2012 These acquisitions

consisted of three industrial properties near Chicago

Illinois two industrial properties in Columbus Ohio

one industrial property in Southern California

two industrial properties in Northern California

one industrial property in Atlanta Georgia one

industrial property in Houston Texas and 27 medical

office properties in various markets The following

table summarizes our allocation of the fair value of

amounts recognized for each major class of asset

and liability in thousands for these acquisitions

Real estate assets

Lease-related intangible assets

Other assets

Total acquired assets

Secured debt

Other liabilities

Total assumed lIabilitIes

Fair value of acquired net assets

The leases in the acquired properties had weighted

average remaining life at acquisition of approximately

8.8 years

2010 and 2011 ACQUISITIONS OF PREMIER

PORTFOLIO

We purchased twelve industrial and four office

buildings as well as other real estate assets during

the year ended December 31 2011 These purchases

completed our acquisition of portfolio of buildings

in South Florida the Premier Portfolio which

was placed under contract in 2010 and resulted in

cash payments to the sellers of $27.4 million the

assumption of secured loans with face value of

$124.4 million and the issuance to the sellers of 2.1

million Units with fair value at issuance of $28.4

million Note 11 These Units were converted to

shares of our common stock in early 2012 after

mandatory one-year holding period

On December 30 2010 we purchased 38 industrial

buildings one office building and other real estate

assets within the Premier Portfolio

The following table summarizes our allocation of the

fair value of amounts recognized for each major class

of assets and liabilities related to the 55 properties

and other real estate assets from the Premier Portfolio

that have been purchased through December 31 2011

in thousands

Real estate assets

Lease-related intangible assets

Other assets

Total acquired assets

Secured debt

Other liabilities

Total assumed liabilities

Fair value of acquired net assets

Acquired During Year Ended Acquired DurIng Year Ended

December 31 2011 December 31 2010 Total

153656 249960 403616

25445 31091 56536

2571 1801 4372

181672 282852 464524

125003 158238 283241

4284 4075 8359

129287 162313 291600

52385 120539 172924

The leases in the acquired properties had weighted average remaining life at acquisition of approximately

3.5 years

668149

111509

5714

785372

100826

11928

112754

672618
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OTHER 2011 ACQUISITIONS

In addition to our acquisition of the remaining properties

in the Premier portfolio we also acquired 43 properties

during the year ended December 31 2011 These

acquisitions consisted of twelve bulk industrial properties

in Chicago Illinois six bulk industrial properties in Raleigh

North Carolina three bulk industrial properties in Dallas

Texas three bulk industrial properties in Minneapolis

Minnesota two bulk industrial properties in Southern

California one bulk industrial property in Phoenix

Arizona one bulk industrial property in Savannah

Georgia one bulk industrial property in Indianapolis

Indiana one office property in Raleigh North Carolina

one office property in Indianapolis Indiana one office

property in Atlanta Georgia and eleven medical office

properties in various markets The following table

summarizes our allocation of the fair value of amounts

recognized for each major class of assets and liabilities in

thousands for these acquisitions

Secured debt

Other liabilities

Total assumed liabilities

Fair value of acquired net assets

The leases in the acquired properties had

weighted average remaining life at acquisition of

approximately 6.7 years

2010 ACQUISITION OF REMAINING

INTEREST IN DUGAN REALTY L.L.C

On July 2010 we acquired our joint venture

partners 50% interest in Dugan Realty L.L.C

Dugan real estate joint venture that we had

previously accounted for using the equity method

for payment of $166.7 million Dugan held $28.1

million of cash at the time of acquisition which

resulted in net cash outlay of $138.6 million As

the result of this transaction we obtained all of

Dugans membershipinterests

At the date of acquisition Dugan owned 106

industrial buildings totaling 20.8 million square

feet and 63 net acres of undeveloped land located

in Midwest and Southeast markets Dugan had

secured loan with face value of $195.4 million

due in October 2010 and secured loan with face

value of $87.6 million due in October 2012 which

were both repaid at their scheduled maturity

dates see Note

The following table summarizes our allocation

of the fair value of amounts recognized for each

major class of assets and liabilities in thousands

28658

638231

Secured debt 285376

Other liabilities 20243

Total assumed lIabilities 305619

Fair value of acquired net assets

represents 100% Interest 332612

We previously managed and performed other ancillary

services for Dugans properties and as result Dugan

had no employees of its own and no separately

recognizable brand identity As such we determined

that the consideration paid to the seller plus the fair

value of the incremental share of the assumed liabilities

represented the fair value of the additional interest in

Dugan that we acquired and that no goodwill or other

non-real estate related intangible assets were required

to be recognized through the transaction Accordingly

we also determined that the fair value of the acquired

ownership interest in Dugan equaled the fair value of

our existing ownership interest

In conjunction with acquiring our partners ownership

interest in Dugan we derecognized $50.0 million

liability related to put option held by our partners

The put liability was originally recognized in October

2000 in connection with sale of industrial properties

and undeveloped land to Dugan at which point our

joint venture partner was given an option to put up to

$50.0 million of its interest in Dugan to us in exchange

Real estate assets

Lease-related intangible assets

Other assets

Totai acquired assets

502418

107155

Real estate assets

Lease-related intangible assets

Other assets

Total acquired assets

503556

70994

879

575429

40072

8300

48372

527057
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for our common stock or cash at our option Our gain

on acquisition considering the derecognition of the

put liability was calculated as follows in thousands

Fair vaiue of existing Interest

represents 50% interest

Less

carrying value of investment in Dugan

Put option liability derecognized

assets and liabilities were determined primarily

through calculating the as-if vacant value of

each building using the income approach and

relied significantly upon internally determined

assumptions We have determined these estimates

to have been primarily based upon Level inputs

which are unobservable inputs based on our

own assumptions The range of most significant

assumptions utilized in making the lease-up and

future disposition estimates used in calculating

the as-if vacant value of each building acquired

during 2012 and 2011 are as follows

In addition to the 39 Premier Portfolio properties

acquired in 2010 as discussed above and the

acquisition of our partners ownership interest in

Dugan we also acquired 13 additional properties

during the year ended December 31 2010 These

acquisitions consisted of three bulk industrial

properties in Houston Texas two bulk industrial

and two office properties in South Florida two bulk

industrial properties in Chicago Illinois one bulk

industrial property in Phoenix Arizona one bulk

industrial property in Nashville Tennessee one

bulk industrial property in Columbus Ohio and one

medical office property in Charlotte North Carolina

The following table summarizes our allocation

of the fair value of amounts recognized for each

major class of assets and liabilities in thousands

Real estate assets

Lease-related intangible assets

Other assets

Totai acquired assets

Secured and unsecured debt

Other liabilities

Totai assumed iiabiiitles

Fair vaiue of acquired net assets

Low High Low High

Discount rate 7.13% 10.78% 6.40% 11.10%

Exit capitalization rate 5.75% 8.88% 4.80% 10.00%

Lease-up period months

Net rental rate per square

foot Industrial

Net rental rate per square

foot Office

Net rental rate per square

foot -Medical Office

ACQUISITION-RELATED ACTIVITY

The acquisition-related activity in our consolidated

Statements of Operations includes transaction costs for

completed acquisitions which are expensed as incurred

as well as gains or losses related to acquisitions where

we had pre-existing ownership interest Acquisition-

related activity for the years ended December 31 2012

2011 and 2010 includes transaction costs of $4.2 million

$2.3 million and $1.9 million respectively

DISPOSITIONS

We disposed of income-producing real estate assets

and undeveloped land and received net proceeds of

$138.1 million $1.57 billion and $499.5 million in 2012

2011 and 2010 respectively

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The fair value estimates used in allocating the

aggregate purchase price of each acquisition

among the individual components of real estate

Included in the building dispositions in 2011 is the sale

of substantially all of our wholly-owned suburban

office real estate properties in Atlanta Chicago

Columbus Dallas Minneapolis Orlando and Tampa

consisting of 79 buildings that had an aggregate of

166306

158591

50000

108591

57715Gain on acquisition

OTHER 2010 ACQUISITIONS

2012 2011

36 36

2.75 7.62 2.75 6.70

8.61 $16.00

13.20 26.14 $13.75 27.62

254014

71844

3652

329510

63458

5645

69103

260407
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by the buyer of mortgage debt with face value of

approximately $24.9 million

Also included in the building dispositions in 2011 is

the sale of 13 suburban office buildings totaling over

2.0 million square feet to an existing 20%-owned

unconsolidated joint venture These buildings were

sold to the unconsolidated joint venture for an

agreed value of $342.8 million of which our 80%

share of proceeds totaled $273.7 million Included in

the building dispositions in 2010 is the sale of seven

suburban office buildings totaling over 1.0 million

square feet to the same 20%-owned joint venture

These buildings were sold to the unconsolidated joint

venture for an agreed value of $173.9 million of which

our 80% share of proceeds totaled $139.1 million

All other dispositions were not individually material

2012 2011 2010

Management fees 11018 10090 7620

Leasing fees 3411 4417 2700

Construction and

development fees 4739 6711 10257

INVESTMENTS IN

UNCONSOLIDATED COMPANIES

As of December 31 2012 we had equity interests

in 20 unconsolidated joint ventures that primarily

own and operate rental properties and hold land for

development

Combined summarized financial information for the

unconsolidated companies as of December 31 2012

and 2011 and for the years ended December 31 2012

2011 and 2010 are as follows in thousands

2012 2011 2010

Rental revenue 291534 272937 228378

Net income 3125 10709 19202

Land buildings and tenant improvements net

Construction in progress

Undeveloped land

Other assets

Indebtedness

Other liabilities

Owners equity

1991823

61663

175143

289173

2517802

2051412

12208

177742

309409

2550771

9.8 million square feet to affiliates of Blackstone Real

Estate Partners The sales price was approximately

$1.06 billion which after settlement of certain

working capital items and the payment of applicable

transaction costs was received in combination of

approximately $1.02 billion in cash and the assumption

related services to unconsolidated companies in

which we have equity interests We recorded the

corresponding fees based on contractual terms

that approximate market rates for these types of

services and we have eliminated our ownership

percentage of these fees in the consolidated

financial statements The following table summarizes

the fees earned from these companies prior to

elimination for the years ended December 31 2012

2011 and 2010 respectively in thousands

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

We provide property management asset

management leasing construction and other tenant

1314502 1317554

70519 71241

1385021 1388795

1132781 1161976

2517802 2550771

Dugan Note generated $42.5 million in revenues and $6.4 million of net income in the six months of 2010 prior

to its July consolidation
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Dividends on preferred shares and adjustments for

the redemption or repurchase of preferred shares are

allocated entirely to continuing operations

ALLOCATION OF NON CONTROLLING

INTERESTS

The following table illustrates the income loss attributable

17 30
to common shareholders from continuing operations

and discontinued operations reduced by the allocation

of income or loss between continuing and discontinued

operations to the Units for the years ended December 31
28 101 19 150

2012 2011 and 2010 respectively in thousands

We allocate interest expense to discontinued

operations and have included such interest expense

in computing income from discontinued operations

Interest expense allocable to discontinued operations

includes interest on any secured debt for properties

included in discontinued operations and an allocable

share of our consolidated unsecured interest expense

for unencumbered properties The allocation

of unsecured interest expense to discontinued

operations was based upon the gross book value

of the unencumbered real estate assets included in

discontinued operations as it related to the total gross

book value of our unencumbered real estate assets

The following table illustrates the operations of the

buildings reflected in discontinued operations for

the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively in thousands

Our share of the scheduled principal payments

of long term debt for the unconsolidated joint

ventures for each of the next five years and

thereafter as of December 31 2012 are as follows

in thousands

Year Future Repayments

2013
119387

2014
51757

2015
69834

2016
14948

2017
101922

Thereafter
54562

412410

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

The following table illustrates the number of properties

in discontinued operations

Sold Sold Sold

Held For Sale at in in in

December 31 2012 2012 2011 2010 Total

10 93 11 114

2012

8284

3286

3454

1544

3093

1549

Revenues

Operating expenses

Depreciation and amortization

Operating income

Interest expense

Loss before gain on sales

Gain on sale of depreciable

properties

Income from

discontinued operations

2011

$194166

89123

59453

45590

47356

1766

2010

$248024

107412

84139

56473

63556

7083

13467 100882 33054

$11918 99116 25971

Office

Industrial

Medical

Office

Retail

2012 2011 2010

Loss from continuing

operations attributable

to common shareholders

Income from discontinued

operations attributable to

common shareholders

Net income loss

attributable to

common shareholders

137852 65064 39448

11707 96480 25340

126145 31416 14108
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PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Real estate investment net

Other assets

Total assets held-for-sale

Accrued expenses

Other liabilities

Total liabilities held-for-sale

December 312012

24994

5943

December 31 2011

49735

5845

55580

254

Indebtedness at December 31 2012 and 2011 consists of the following in thousands

Fixed rate secured debt

Variable rate secured debt

Fixed rate unsecured debt

Unsecured lines of credit

SECURED DEBT

As of December 31 2012 our secured debt was

collateralized by rental properties with carrying

value of $2.0 billion and by letters of credit in the

amount of $5.3 million

The fair value of our fixed rate secured debt as of

December 31 2012 was $1.3 billion Because our

fixed rate secured debt is not actively traded in any

marketplace we utilized discounted cash flow

methodology to determine its fair value Accordingly

we calculated fair value by applying an estimate of the

current market rate to discount the debts remaining

contractual cash flows Our estimate of current

market rate which is the most significant input in

the discounted cash flow calculation is intended to

replicate debt of similar maturity and loan-to-value

relationship The estimated rates ranged from 3.20%

to 4.70% depending on the attributes of the specific

loans The current market rates we utilized were

internally estimated therefore we have concluded

285000 20293

4446170 3809589

that our determination of fair value for our fixed rate

secured debt was primarily based upon Level inputs

We assumed nine secured loans in conjunction with our

acquisition activity in 2012 These assumed loans had

total face value of $96.1 million and fair value of $100.8

million These assumed loans carry weighted average

stated interest rate of 5.56% and weighted average

remaining term at acquisition of 2.4 years We used an

estimated market rate of 3.50% in determining the fair

value of these loans

In June 2012 newly formed consolidated subsidiary

borrowed $13.3 million on secured note bearing

interest at variable rate of LIBOR plus 2.50% equal

to 2.71% for outstanding borrowings as of December 31

2012 and maturing June 29 2017

During the year ended December 31 2012 we repaid

five secured loans at their maturity dates totaling $102.1

million These loans had weighted average stated

interest rate of 6.08%

At December 31 2012 we classified two in-service properties as held-for-sale while at December 31 2011 we classified 13

in-service properties as held-for-sale The following table illustrates aggregate balance sheet information of these held-

for-sale properties in thousands

INDEBTEDNESS

30937

94

713 721

807 975

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Interest Rate Interest Rate

Maturity Date 2012 2011 2012 2011

2013 to 2027 6.19% 6.25% 51149541 $1167188

2014 to 2025 2.01% 0.21% 18412 6045

2013 to 2028 6.17% 6.56% 2993217 2616063

2015 1.47% 1.14%
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We assumed 13 secured loans in conjunction with our

acquisition activity in 2011 These acquired secured loans

had total face value of $162.4 million and fair value

of $165.1 million The assumed loans carry weighted

average stated interest rate of 5.75% and weighted

remaining term upon acquisition of 5.5 years We used

estimated market rates ranging between 3.50% and

5.81% in determining the fair value of the loans

UNSECURED NOTES

We took the following actions during 2012 and 2011 as it

pertains to our unsecured indebtedness

In October 2012 we repaid $50.0 million of medium

term notes which had an effective interest rate of

5.45% at their scheduled maturity date

In September 2012 we issued $300.0 million of

unsecured notes that bear interest at 3.875%

have an effective rate of 3.925% and mature on

October 15 2022

In August 2012 we repaid $150.0 million of senior

unsecured notes which had an effective interest

rate of 6.01% at their scheduled maturity date

In July 2012 one of our consolidated subsidiaries

repaid $21.0 million of variable rate unsecured debt

which bore interest at rate of LIBOR plus 0.85%

at its scheduled maturity date

In June 2012 we issued $300.0 million of senior

unsecured notes that bear interest at 4.375%

have an effective rate of 4.466% and mature on

June 15 2022

In December 2011 we repaid $167.6 million of our

3.75% Exchangeable Notes at their scheduled

maturity date Due to accounting requirements

which required us to record interest expense on this

debt at similar rate as could have been obtained

for non-convertible debt this debt had an effective

interest rate of 5.62%

In August 2011 we repaid $122.5 million of senior

unsecured notes which had an effective interest

rate of 5.69% at their scheduled maturity date

In March 2011 we repaid $42.5 million of senior

unsecured notes which had an effective interest

rate of 6.96% at their scheduled maturity date

At December 31 2012 all of our unsecured notes bear

interest at fixed rates We utilized broker estimates in

estimating the fair value of our fixed rate unsecured

debt Our unsecured notes are thinly traded and in

certain cases the broker estimates were not based upon

comparable transactions The broker estimates took into

account any recent trades within the same series of our

fixed rate unsecured debt comparisons to recent trades

of other series of our fixed rate unsecured debt trades of

fixed rate unsecured debt from companies with profiles

similar to ours as well as overall economic conditions

We reviewed these broker estimates for reasonableness

and accuracy considering whether the estimates were

based upon market participant assumptions within the

principal and most advantageous market and whether

any other observable inputs would be more accurate

indicators of fair value than the broker estimates We

concluded that the broker estimates were representative

of fair value We have determined that our estimation

of the fair value of our fixed rate unsecured debt was

primarily based upon Level inputs as defined The

estimated trading values of our fixed rate unsecured

debt depending on the maturity and coupon rates

ranged from 101.00% to 129.00% of face value

The indentures and related supplemental indentures

governing our outstanding series of notes also require

us to comply with financial ratios and other covenants

regarding our operations We were in compliance with

all such covenants as of December 31 2012

UNSECURED LINE OF OF CREDIT

Our unsecured line of credit as of December 31 2012 is

described as follows in thousands

Description

Unsecured Line of Credit DRLP

Maximum Capacity

850000

Maturity Date

December 2015

Outstanding Balance at

December 31 2012

285000
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The DRLP unsecured line of credit has an interest rate

on borrowings of LIBOR plus 1.25% equal to 1.47% for

borrowings as of December 31 2012 and maturity

date of December 2015 Subject to certain conditions

the terms also include an option to increase the facility

by up to an additional $400.0 million for total of up

to $1.25 billion

This line of credit provides us with an option to obtain

borrowings from financial institutions that participate

in the line at rates that may be lower than the stated

interest rate subject to certain restrictions

This line of credit contains financial covenants that

require us to meet certain financial ratios and defined

levels of performance including those related to total

fixed charge coverage unsecured interest expense

coverage and debt-to-asset value with asset value

being defined in the DRLP unsecured line of credit

agreement As of December 31 2012 we were in

compliance with all covenants under this line of credit

To the extent that there are outstanding borrowings

we utilize discounted cash flow methodology in

order to estimate the fair value of our unsecured line of

credit The net present value of the difference between

future contractual interest payments and future interest

payments based on our estimate of current market

rate represents the difference between the book value

and the fair value Our estimate of current market

rate is based upon the rate considering current market

conditions and our specific credit profile at which we

estimate we could obtain similar borrowings The

current market rate of 1.61% that we utilized was

internally estimated therefore we have concluded that

our determination of fair value for our unsecured line of

credit was primarily based upon Level inputs

Through July 2012 consolidated subsidiary had an

unsecured line of credit that allowed for borrowings

up to $30.0 million and bore interest at rate of LIBOR

plus 0.85% This unsecured line of credit was used to

fund development activities within the consolidated

subsidiary and the outstanding balance of $20.3 million

was repaid at its maturity in July 2012

CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE

As all of our fair value debt disclosures relied primarily

on Level inputs the following table summarizes the

book value and changes in the fair value of our debt

for the year ended December 31 2012 in thousands

Fixed rate

secured debt

Variable rate

secured debt

Unsecured

notes

Unsecured

lines of credit

Total

Adjustments

to Fair

Payoffs Value

116319 10639

Fair Value at

December 31

2012

1251477

18386

3336386

285632

SCHEDULED MATURITIES AND

INTEREST PAID

At December 31 2012 the scheduled amortization

and maturities of all indebtedness excluding fair value

and other accounting adjustments for the next five

years and thereafter were as follows in thousands

Year Amount

547732

331563

679945

544840

566611

1768944

4439635

Book Value at

December 31

2011

1167188

Book Value at

December 31

2012

1149541

Fair Value at

December 31

2011

1256331

Issuances and

Assumptions

100826

6045 18412

2616063 2993217

20293 285000

6045 13336

2834610 600000

20244 285000

968 27

222846 124622

20293 681

3809589 4446170 4117230 999162 360426 135915 4891881

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

Thereafter
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The amount of interest paid in 2012 2011 and 2010

was $246.1 million $261.2 million and $246.5 million

respectively The amount of interest capitalized in

2012 2011 and 2010 was $9.4 million $4.3 million and

$11.5 million respectively

SEGMENT REPORTING

We have four reportable operating segments at

December 31 2012 the first three of which consist of the

ownership and rental of industrial ii office and iii

medical office real estate investments The operations of

our industrial office and medical office properties along

with our retail properties are collectively referred to as

Rental Operations Our retail properties as well as any

other properties not included in our reportable segments

do not by themselves meet the quantitative thresholds

for separate presentation as reportable segment

The fourth reportable segment consists of various real

estate services such as property management asset

management maintenance leasing development

general contracting and construction management to

third-party property owners and joint ventures and

is collectively referred to as Service Operations Our

reportable segments offer different products or services

and are managed separately because each segment

requires different operating strategies and management

expertise

During 2012 one of the quantitative thresholds was

triggered which required our medical office property

operating segment to be presented as separate

reportable segment As such our medical office properties

are presented as separate reportable segment for the

years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

Other revenue consists of other operating revenues not

identified with one of our operating segments Interest

expense and other non-property specific revenues and

expenses are not allocated to individual segments in

determining our performance measure

We assess and measure our overall operating results

primarily based upon Funds From Operations

FF0 which is an industry performance measure

that management believes is useful indicator of

consolidated operating performance FF0 is used by

industry analysts and investors as supplemental

operating performance measure of REIT The National

Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts NAREIT

created FF0 as non-GAAP supplemental measure

of REIT operating performance FF0 as defined by

NAREIT represents GAAP net income loss excluding

extraordinary items as defined under GAAP gains or

losses from sales of previously depreciated real estate

assets impairment charges related to depreciable real

estate assets plus certain non-cash items such as real

estate asset depreciation and amortization and after

similar adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and

joint ventures The most comparable GAAP measure is

net income loss attributable to common shareholders

FF0 attributable to common shareholders should not

be considered as substitute for net income loss

attributable to common shareholders or any other

measures derived in accordance with GAAP and may not

be comparable to other similarly titled measures of other

companies FF0 is calculated in accordance with the

definition that was adopted by the Board of Governors

of NAREIT

Historical cost accounting for real estate assets in

accordance with GAAP implicitly assumes that the value

of real estate assets diminishes predictably over time

Since real estate values instead have historically risen

or fallen with market conditions many industry analysts

and investors have considered presentation of operating

results for real estate companies that use historical

cost accounting to be insufficient by themselves

Management believes that the use of FF0 attributable

to common shareholders combined with net income

which remains the primary measure of performance

improves the understanding of operating results of REIT5

among the investing public and makes comparisons of

REIT operating results more meaningful Management

believes that the use of FF0 as performance measure

enables investors and analysts to readily identify the

operating results of the long-term assets that form the

core of REITs activity and assist them in comparing

these operating results between periods or between

different companies
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We do not allocate certain income and expenses Non- The following table shows the revenues for each of

Segment Items as shown in the table below to our the reportable segments and ii reconciliation of FF0

operating segments Thus the operational performance attributable to common shareholders to net income

measure presented here on segment-level basis loss attributable to common shareholders for the years

represents net earnings excluding depreciation ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 in thousands

expense and the Non-Segment Items not allocated

and is not meant to present FF0 as defined by NAREIT

Revenues

Rental Operations

Industrial

Office

Medical Office

Non-reportable Rental Operations

General contractor and service fee revenue Service Operations
__________________________________________________________

Total Segment Revenues

Other Revenue

Consolidated Revenue from continuing operations

Discontinued Operations ____________ _______________________________________

Consolidated Revenue

Reconciliation of Funds From ODerations

Net earnings excluding depreciation and Non-Segment Items

Industrial

Office

Medical Office

Non-reportable Rental Operations

Service Operations
______________________________________________________________

Non-Segment Items

Interest expense

Impairment charges on non-depreciable properties

Interest and other income

Other operating expenses

General and administrative expenses

Undeveloped land carrying costs

Loss on debt transactions

Acquisition-related activity

Income tax benefit

Other non-segment income

Net income loss attributable to noncontrolling interests

Joint venture items

Dividends on preferred shares

Adjustments for redemption/repurchase of preferred shares

Discontinued operations

Noncontrolling interest share of FF0 adjustments

FF0 attributable to common shareholders

Depreciation and amortization on continuing operations

Depreciation and amortization on discontinued operations

Companys share of joint venture adjustments

Earnings from depreciated property sales on continuing operations

Earnings from depreciated property sales on discontinued operations

Earnings from depreciated property sales share of joint venture

Noncontrolling interest share of FF0 adjustments
______________________________________________________________

Net income loss attributable to common shareholders

2012 2011 2010

438525 379030 280538

267982 272807 313712

98647 57673 44287

21794 21829 19912

275071 521796 515361

1102019 1253135 1173810

7421 11544 11094

1109440 1264679 1184904

8284 194166 248024

1117724 1458845 1432928

327175 278315 210202

155456 160530 185914

65932 35450 28177

15300 15563 13646

20201 41316 28496

584064 531174 466435

245170 220455 186407

12931 9834

514 658 534

633 1237 1231

46424 43107 41329

8829 8934 9203

16349

4192 1188 55820

103 194 1126

3728 6131 8132

1891 744 536

37469 38161 40346

46438 60353 69468

5730 3796 10438

1905 57687 77056

7054 6644 7771

265204 274616 297955

375965 326226 276045

3454 59453 84139

34702 33687 34674

344 68549 39662

13467 100882 33054

1907 91 2308

7054 6644 7771

126145 31416 14108
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The assets for each of the reportable segments as of December 31 2012 and 2011 are as follows in thousands

December 31.2012 December 31 2011

Tenant improvements and leasing costs to re-let rental

space that had been previously under lease to tenants

are referred to as second generation expenditures

Building improvements that are not specific to any

tenant but serve to improve integral components of

our real estate properties are also second generation

expenditures In addition to revenues and FF0

we also review our second generation capital

expenditures in measuring the performance of our

individual Rental Operations segments We review

these expenditures to determine the costs associated

with re-leasing vacant space and maintaining the

condition of our properties Our second generation

capital expenditures by segment are summarized as

follows for the years ended December 31 2012 2011

and 2010 in thousands

Second Generation capital Expenditures

Industrial

Office

Medical Office

Non-reportable Rental Operations segments

Total

Rental Operations

Industrial

Office

Medical Office

Non-reportable Rental Operations

Service Operations

Total Segment Assets

Non-Segment Assets

Consolidated Assets

3836721

1683314

1202929

175197

162219

7060380

499721

7560101

3586250

1742196

580177

209056

167382

6285061

719376

7004437

2012 2011 2010

33095 34872 23271

30092 63933 65203

641 410 183

56 49 66

63884 99264 88723
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LEASING ACTIVITY

Future minimum rents due to us under non-cancelable

operating leases at December 31 2012 are as follows

in thousands

Year Amount

667886

628433

564516

499342

426569

1630698

4417444

In addition to minimum rents certain leases require

reimbursements of specified operating expenses that

amounted to $174.2 million $190.8 million and $190.0

million for the years ended December 31 2012 2011

and 2010 respectively

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We maintain 401k plan for full-time employees

We had historically made matching contributions up

to an amount equal to three percent of the employees

salary and may also make annual discretionary

contributions We temporarily suspended the

Companys matching program beginning in July

2009 however it was reinstated in January 2011

with matching contributions up to an amount equal

to two percent of the employees salary Also

discretionary contribution was declared at the end

of 2012 2011 and 2010 The total expense recognized

for this plan was $2.2 million $2.5 million and $1.3

million for the years ended December 31 2012 2011

and 2010 respectively

We make contributions to contributory health and

welfare plan as necessary to fund claims not covered

by employee contributions The total expense we

recognized related to this plan was $7.5 million $9.5

million and $10.4 million for 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively These expense amounts include estimates

based upon the historical experience of claims incurred

but not reported as of year-end

11 SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

We periodically use the public equity markets to fund

the development and acquisition of additional rental

properties or to pay down debt The proceeds of

these offerings are contributed to DRLP in exchange

for an additional interest in DRLP

Throughout 2012 we issued 22.7 million shares of

common stock pursuant to our at the market equity

program generating gross proceeds of approximately

$322.2 million and after considering commissions

and other costs net proceeds of approximately $315.3

million We paid $6.4 million in commissions related to

the sale of these common shares The proceeds from

these offerings were used for acquisitions general

corporate purposes and redemption of preferred

shares and fixed rate secured debt

In March 2012 we redeemed all of the outstanding

shares of our 6.950% Series Cumulative Redeemable

Preferred Shares at liquidation amount of $168.3

million Offering costs of $5.7 million were included

as reduction to net loss attributable to common

shareholders in conjunction with the redemption of

these shares

In July 2011 we redeemed all of the outstanding

shares of our 7.250% Series Cumulative Redeemable

Preferred Shares at liquidation amount of $108.6

million Offering costs of $3.6 million were included

as reduction to net income attributable to common

shareholders in conjunction with the redemption of

these shares

In February 2011 we repurchased 80000 shares

of our 8.375% Series Cumulative Redeemable

Preferred Shares Series Shares The Series

Shares that we repurchased had total redemption

value of $2.0 million and were repurchased for $2.1

million An adjustment of approximately $163000

which included ratable portion of original issuance

costs was included as reduction to net income

attributable to common shareholders

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

Thereafter
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In conjunction with the acquisition of the Premier

Portfolio Note we issued 2.1 million Units with

fair value at issuance of $28.4 million which were

included in noncontrolling interests until early 2012

when the Units were converted after mandatory

one-year holding period

In June 2010 we issued 26.5 million shares of

common stock for net proceeds of approximately

$298.1 million The proceeds from this offering were

used for acquisitions general corporate purposes

and repurchases of preferred shares and fixed rate

unsecured debt

Throughout 2010 pursuant to the share repurchase

plan approved by our board of directors we

repurchased 4.5 million shares of our Series Shares

The preferred shares that were repurchased had

total face value of approximately $112.1 million and

were repurchased for $118.8 million An adjustment

of approximately $10.4 million which included

ratable portion of issuance costs increased the net

loss attributable to common shareholders All shares

repurchased were retired prior to December 31 2010

The following series of preferred shares were

outstanding as of December 31 2012 in thousands

except percentage data

All series of preferred shares require cumulative distributions and have no stated maturity date although we may

redeem all such preferred shares on or following their optional redemption dates at our option in whole or in part

Description

Optional

Shares Dividend Redemption Liquidation

Outstanding Rate Date Preference

Series Preferred 396 6.625% August 29 2008 99058

Series Preferred 598 6.500% February 13 2009 149550

Series Preferred 796 6.600% November 30 2009 199075

Series Preferred 712 8.375% February 22 2013 177955
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12 STOCK BASED COMPENSATION

We are authorized to issue up to 10.5 million shares of

our common stock under our stock based employee

and non-employee compensation plans

FIXED STOCK OPTION PLANS

On June 2010 we completed one-time stock

option exchange program which was approved

by our shareholders at our annual meeting to

allow the majority of our employees to surrender

for cancellation their outstanding stock options in

exchange for lesser number of restricted stock units

RSU5 based on both the fair value of the options

and the RSUs at the time of the exchange As result

of the program 4.4 million options were surrendered

and cancelled and 1.2 million RSUs were granted

The total compensation cost for the new RSUs which

is equal to the unamortized compensation expense

associated with the related eligible unvested options

surrendered will be recognized over the applicable

vesting period of the new RSUs As the fair value of the

RSUs granted was less than the fair value of the eligible

options surrendered in exchange for the RSU5 each

measured on June 2010 there was no incremental

expense recognized through the exchange program

The most significant assumption used in estimating

the fair value of the surrendered options was the

assumption for expected volatility which was 70%

The volatility assumption was made based on both

historical experience and our best estimate of future

volatility The assumption for dividend yield was 5%

while the assumptions for expected term and risk-free

rate varied based upon the remaining contractual lives

of the surrendered options

Compensation expense recognized for fixed stock

option plans was insignificant during the years ended

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

Under our 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan and our

2005 Non-Employee Directors Compensation Plan

collectively the Compensation Plans approved by

our shareholders in April 2005 RSUs may be granted to

non-employee directors executive officers and selected

management employees RSU is economically

equivalent to share of our common stock

RSUs granted to employees generally vest 20% per

year over five years have contractual lives of five years

and are payable in shares of our common stock with

new share of such common stock issued upon each

RSUs vesting RSUs granted to existing non-employee

directors vest 100% over one year and have contractual

lives of one year RSUs granted on June 2010 in

exchange for stock options will vest depending on the

original terms of the surrendered options over either

two or three years

To the extent that recipient of RSU grant is not

determined to be retirement eligible as defined by

the Compensation Plans we recognize expense on

straight-line basis over their vesting periods Expense

is recognized immediately at the date of grant to the

extent recipient is retirement eligible and expense is

accelerated to the extent that participant will become

retirement eligible prior to the end of the contractual

life of granted RSU5

The following table summarizes transactions for our

RSUs excluding dividend equivalents for 2012

Restricted Stock Units

RSUs at December 31 2011

Granted

vested

Forfeited

RSUs at December 31 2012

Compensation cost recognized for RSUs totaled $11.5

million $11.2 million and $9.0 million for the years ended

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Weighted

Average

Grant Date

Fair Vaiue

11.59

13.81

11.69

11.84

12.26

Number of

RSUs

3503400

877009

1647900

51744

2680765
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As of December 31 2012 there was $14.1 million of

total unrecognized compensation expense related

to nonvested RSUs granted under the Plan which is

expected to be recognized over weighted average

period of 2.8 years

13 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We are exposed to capital market risk such as

changes in interest rates In an effort to manage

interest rate risk we may enter into interest rate

hedging arrangements from time to time We do not

utilize derivative financial instruments for trading or

speculative purposes

The effectiveness of our hedges is evaluated

throughout their lives using the hypothetical

derivative method under which the change in fair

value of the actual swap designated as the hedging

instrument is compared to the change in fair value of

hypothetical swap We had no material interest rate

derivatives when considering the fair value of the

hedging instruments in any period presented

14 COMMITMENTS AND
CONTINGENCIES

We have guaranteed the repayment of $83.8 million

of economic development bonds issued by various

municipalities in connection with certain commercial

developments We will be required to make payments

under our guarantees to the extent that incremental

taxes from specified developments are not sufficient

to pay the bond debt service Management does not

believe that it is probable that we will be required

to make any significant payments in satisfaction of

these guarantees

We also have guaranteed the repayment of secured

and unsecured loans of five of our unconsolidated

subsidiaries At December 31 2012 the maximum

guarantee exposure for these loans was

approximately $247.1 million Included in our total

guarantee exposure is joint and several guarantee

of the loan agreement of the 3630 Peachtree joint

venture which had carrying amount of $17.3 million

on the balance sheet at December 31 2012

We lease certain land positions with terms extending

to October 2105 with total obligation of $206.5

million No payments on these ground leases which

are classified as operating leases are material in any

individual year

We are subject to various legal proceedings and

claims that arise in the ordinary course of business

In the opinion of management the amount of any

ultimate liability with respect to these actions will

not materially affect our consolidated financial

statements or results of operations

We own certain parcels of land that are subject to

special property tax assessments levied by quasi

municipal entities To the extent that such special

assessments are fixed and determinable the

discounted value of the full assessment is recorded

as liability We have $12.5 million of such special

assessment liabilities which are included within other

liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet as of

December 31 2012
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15 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

DECLARATION OF DIVIDENDS

Our board of directors declared the following

dividends at its regularly scheduled board meeting

held on January 30 2013

0.414063

0.406250

0.412500

February 13 2013

February 13 2013

February 13 2013

February 28 2013

February 28 2013

February 28 2013

COMMON STOCK ISSUANCE

In January 2013 we completed public offering of 41.4

million common shares at an issue price of $14.25 per

share resulting in gross proceeds of $590.0 million

and after underwriting fees and estimated offering

costs net proceeds of approximately $571.9 million

portion of the net proceeds from this offering

were used to repay all of the outstanding borrowings

under our existing revolving credit facility which

had an outstanding balance of $285.0 million as of

December 31 2012 and the remaining proceeds will

be used to redeem all of our outstanding Series

Shares which are redeemable as of February 22

2013 and for general corporate purposes

PREFERRED SERIES REDEMPTION NOTICE

In January 2013 we called for redemption all 711820

of our outstanding Series Shares The redemption

date is February 22 2013 and the cash redemption

price for the Series Shares is $178.0 million or

$250.00 per share

Class

Common

Preferred per depositary share

Series

Series

Series

Quarterly

AmounVShare

0.170000

Record Date

February 13 2013

Payment Date

February 28 2013
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SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Unaudited

Selected quarterly information for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 is as follows in thousands

except per share amounts

Quarter Ended

2012 December31 September 30 June30 March 31

Rental and related revenue 220988 207942 203930 201509

General contractor and service fee revenue 48564 93932 63607 68968

Net loss attributable to common shareholders 33043 28230 28482 36390

Basic loss per common share 0.12 0.11 0.11 0.14

Diluted loss per common share 0.12 0.11 0.11 0.14

weighted average common shares 276081 270289 266748 258365

weighted average common shares and potential dilutive

securities 276081 270289 266748 258365

2011 December 31 September30 June 30 March 31

Rental and related revenue 190891 183689 178977 189326

General contractor and service fee revenue 112178 127708 135363 146547

Net income toss attributable to common shareholders 44.965 32076 29042 47569

Basic income loss per common share 0.17 0.13 0.12 0.19

Diluted income loss per common share 0.17 0.13 0.12 0.19

weighted average common shares 252922 252802 252640 252406

weighted average common shares and potential dilutive

securities 259872 252802 252640 258837
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SUPPLEMENTAL PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Core Funds from Operations Core FF0 Core

FF0 is computed as FF0 adjusted for certain items

that are generally non-cash in nature and that

materially distort the comparative measurement of

company performance over time The adjustments

include impairment charges tax expenses or benefit

related to changes in deferred tax asset valuation

allowances ii changes in tax exposure accruals that

were established as the result of the previous adoption

of new accounting principles or iii taxable income

loss related to other items excluded from FF0 or

Core FF0 collectively referred to as other income

tax items gains losses on debt transactions

adjustments on the repurchase of preferred stock

gains losses on and related costs of acquisitions and

severance charges related to overhead restructuring

activities Although our calculation of Core FF0

differs from NAREITs definition of FF0 and may not

be comparable to that of other REIT5 and real estate

companies we believe it provides meaningful

supplemental measure of our operating performance

Adjusted Funds from Operations AFFO AFFO

is defined by the company as Core FF0 as defined

above less recurring building improvements and

second generation capital expenditures the leasing

of vacant space that had previously been under lease

by the company is referred to as second generation

lease activity and adjusted for certain non-cash

items including straight line rental income non-

cash components of interest expense and stock

compensation expense and after similar adjustments

for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures

Same Property Performance We include same-

property net operating income NOl information as

property-level supplemental measure of performance

Same-property NOl represents the year-over-year

percentage change in property level net operating

income for all properties that have been owned and

in service for at least 24 months and that did not

have any gross lease termination fee in excess of

$250000 during the most recent 24 month period

Net operating income is equal to property-level

FF0 straight-line rent concession amortization and

market lease amortization

We do not believe same-property NOl growth to be

primary measure of overall company operating

performance rather we utilize same-property NOt

growth as supplemental measure to evaluate

property-level performance Same property

information includes unconsolidated properties

description of the properties that are excluded from

our same-property measure is included on page 21 of

our December 31 2012 supplemental information
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RECONCILIATION OF FF0 CORE FF0 AFFO

2012

Wtd

Avg

Amount Shares

Twelve Months Ended December 31

Unaudited

2011

Wtd

Avg Per

Amount Shares Share

2010

Wtd

Avg Per

Amount Shares Share

Funds From Operations as defined

by NAREIT- Basic

Noncontrolling interest in income

loss of unitholders

Noncontrolling interest share

of adjustments

Other potentially dilutive securities

Funds From Operations-Diluted

Loss on debt transactions

Adjustments for redemption/

repurchase of preferred shares

Impairment charges

non-depreciable properties

Acquisition-related activity

Other income tax items

Overhead restructuring charges

Core Funds From Operations Diluted

265204 267900 0.99

2273 4829

7054

3276

269985 276005 0.98

4192

103

2664

282468 276005 1.02

6644

3588

282119 263186 $1.07

3796

12931

1188

194

3407

303247

297955 238920 $1.25

351 5950

7771

2934

305375 247804

16349

10438

9834

55820

1126

285050 247804 1.15

Adjusted Funds From Operations

Core Funds From Operations Diluted

Adjustments

Straight-line rental income

Amortization of above/below

market rents and concessions

Stock based compensation

expense

Noncash interest expense

Second generation concessions

Second generation tenant

improvements

Second generation leasing

commissions

Building improvements

Adjusted Funds From Operations Diluted

Dividends Declared Per Common Share

282468 276005

24759

8867

12940

9337

1113

28258

$1.02

25027

6842
227613 276005 0.82

0.680

303247 263186 1.15

28622

12731

12596

11261

3010

54409

36746

11443

205605 263186 0.78

0.680

285050 247804 1.15

18320

12122

11335

12686

4214

58346

37841

13469

189003 247804 0.76

0.680

Payout Ratio of Adjusted Funds From

Operations Diluted

Per

Share

274616 252694 1.09

859 6904

5730

$1.23

263186 $1.15

82.9% 87.2% 89.5%
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HOW TO REACH US

Corporate Headquarters

600 East 96th Street Suite 100

Indianapolis Indiana 46240

317.808.6000

Transfer Agent and Registrar

American Stock Transfer Trust Company

59 Maiden Lane

New York New York 10038

800.937.5449 or 718.921.8124

www.amstock.com

Investor Relations

Duke Realty Corporation

Attn Investor Relations

600 East 96th Street Suite 100

Indianapolis Indiana 46240

317.808.6060 or 800.875.3366

317.808.6794 fax

IR@dukerealty.com

www.dukerealty.com

GENERAL INFORMATION

Duke Realty Corporations Direct Stock Purchase and

Dividend Reinvestment Plan provides shareholders with

an opportunity to conveniently acquire the Companys

common stock Shareholders may have all or part of

their cash dividends automatically reinvested and may

make optional cash payments toward the purchase

of additional shares of common stock Information

regarding the Plan may be obtained from our transfer

agent American Stock Transfer Trust Company

at www.amstock.com or by calling 800.937.5449

ELECTRONIC DEPOSIT OF DIVIDENDS

Registered holders of Duke Realty Corporations common

stock may have their quarterly dividends deposited to

their checking or savings account free of charge Call the

Investor Relations department at 317.808.6060 to sign up

for this service

MARKET PRICE AND DIVIDENDS

New York Stock Exchange DRE

The following table sets forth the high low and closing

sales prices of the Companys common stock for the

periods indicated and the dividend paid per share

during such period

2012

Quarter Ended High Low Close Dividend

December 31 15.93 12.71 13.87 0.170

September 30 16.00 13.85 14.70 0.170

June 30 15.31 13.06 14.64 0.170

March 31 14.85 11.85 14.34 0.170

2011

Quarter Ended High Low Close Dividend

December31 12.77 9.29 12.05 0.170

September30 14.83 9.83 10.50 0.170

June 30 15.63 13.15 14.01 0.170

March 31 14.34 12.45 14.01 0.170

On January 30 2013 the Company declared quarterly cash

dividend of $0.17 per share payable on February 28 2013 to

common shareholders of record on February 13 2013

HOLDERS OF COMMON STOCK

As of February 22 2013 there were 7640 record holders

of the Companys common stock
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